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REPORT BY THE CHAIRMAN OF THE STANDING COMMITTEE 
ON ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT
The Standing Committee on Administration and Management held 8 meetings in which 47 documents were reviewed and considered, of which 9 were information (INF) documents and 2 were DT documents. The Committee is recommending that the Council adopt 2 resolutions and 1 decision annexed to this report.
[bookmark: _Hlk11747024]1	Statement by the Staff Council

1.1	In accordance with Resolution 51 (Rev. Minneapolis, 1998) of the Plenipotentiary Conference, Mr. Maximillian Jacobson - Gonzalez, Chairman of the Staff Council, made a statement, the text of which is available at https://www.itu.int/md/S22-CL-INF-0015/en 


2	Report by the Chairman of the Council Working Group on Financial and Human Resources (document C22/50)
2.1	The Chairman of the Council Working Group on Financial and Human Resources (CWG-FHR), Ms Vernita D. Harris (United States of America) presented the document with a summary of the deliberations from the CWG-FHR meetings which were held on 20-21 September 2021 and 11-12 January 2022.  She highlighted the issues that need to be further discussed in Council 2022.
2.2	The following issues have been discussed during the CWG-FHR meetings:
	Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on the functioning and activities of ITU 
	(Document CWG-FHR-14/5)
2.3	The secretariat presented the document on the Impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the functioning and activities of ITU.  There is a need for further discussion on this topic during the next meeting of the CWG-FHR.


	Contribution by Australia and Canada - Virtual and hybrid meetings
	(Document CWG-FHR-15/19)
2.4	It was proposed that the CWG-FHR recommends actions for ITU Council’s consideration for the development of procedures, rules and guidelines, including the appropriate governance and management for virtual and hybrid meetings that provide equal footing and without discrimination to meeting participants.  The proposal will be forwarded to Council 2022 for further discussion.
	Unfunded Mandatory Activities (UMACs) (Document CWG-FHR-14/10)
2.5	The secretariat introduced the document and provided an update to UMAC document C21/49 as requested by Council 2021, in particular, on Business Continuity and Information Management (documents C20/53, CWG-FHR-12/3 and C21/49) while highlighting the criticality of these activities and the need to identify resources for their implementation.  A revised funding schedule for 2022-2027 was also presented by the secretariat to CWG-FHR in January 2022.
	Report on the Implementation of the HRSP covering the period 2019-2021 	(Document C21/54)
2.6	No comments were made on the report presented by the secretariat.
	Presentation of drafts of Audit, Investigations, and Ethics Charters
2.7	The draft Audit and Ethics charters have been made available.  The Charter for Investigations was to be presented to the new Head of Investigations who has recently joined ITU.
	Status report on Implementation of Council Decisions 600 and 601 (UIFN, IIN)
(Document CWG-FHR-14/6) and International numbering resource revenue collection (Document CWG-FHR-14/7)
2.8	The secretariat presented the report including a clear basis to deal with non-payment issues related to numbering resources and the application of timeframes in the billing system when collecting revenue for INRs to ensure consistent and efficient implementation.
	Recruitment process – reduction of the advertisement period
	(Document CWG-FHR-15/9)
2.9	The secretariat proposed to reduce the period of external advertisement for professional positions (P1 to D2) from two months to one month which requires a modification of the Staff Regulations for approval by Council.  Statistics were presented on the number of applicants during the vacancy period and benchmarking data with other organizations. Additional information on the complete recruitment process timeline will be provided during the next meeting.
	Contribution by Australia and Canada - Recruitment process - Proposal to reduce the advertisement period for ITU vacancies (Document CWG-FHR-15/16)
2.10	Australia and Canada expressed support to the secretariat’s proposal to reduce the advertising period from two months to one month in line with other UN organizations to make ITU an attractive place to work and remove unnecessary bottlenecks in the recruitment process.

	Advancement within Grade for professional and higher categories
	(Document CWG-FHR-15/8 (Rev.1))
2.11	The secretariat proposed to modify the Staff Regulations to align the periodicity of salary increments due to step increases for the D1 level with the United Nations Common System of Salaries, Allowances and Benefits, as established by the International Civil Service Commission (ICSC).  The proposal was to remove this detail in the Staff Regulations and refer to the ICSC standard.  In addition to the proposal, the following text was to be added to the Staff Regulation “The Secretary-General will inform staff members annually in case there are changes in the periodicity of salary increments.”
Summary of status of PwC Recommendations on ITU forensic audit
	(Documents CWG-FHR 14/9, CWG-FHR 14/11 and CWG-FHR-15/3)
[bookmark: _Hlk92803275]2.12	The PwC representative gave an oral presentation on the ITU forensic audit.  A summary on the progress of implementation of the PwC recommendations on the Forensic Audit Report was presented by the secretariat. As of December 2021: 44 per cent of the total 71 recommendations completed; 46 per cent in progress; and 10 per cent to be started by end-2022.
	Fraud and related matters (permanent Agenda item): Report of the ITU working group on internal controls (Document CWG-FHR-15/14)
2.13	A progress report was presented by the secretariat for 2021 which covered ethics, Project Management enhancement, ITU Compliance Dashboard, weighting exercise of mitigation measures, new e-recruitment system, competitive procedures for selection of consultants and new Recruitment and Selection Guidelines, and IT4BDT project implementation.
	Accountability framework 
(Documents CWG-FHR-14/2, CWG-FHR-14/INF-1 and CWG-FHR-15/5)
2.14	The secretariat presented the documents on the new ITU Accountability Model and Framework which will be submitted to Council 2022 for approval and will be translated into a service order.
	In-kind contribution guidelines (Documents CWG-FHR 14/3 and CWG-FHR-15/4) and Modifications to the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules
(Documents CWG-FHR 14/4 and CWG-FHR-15/6)
2.15	The secretariat presented the documents on in-kind contribution guidelines which have been prepared based on the contribution from the Russian Federation during CWG-FHR in 2021 (document CWG-FHR-12/15).  The secretariat would provide additional information on in-kind contribution guidelines and further discussions should take place while encouraging Member States to submit their comments and proposals to the current draft guidelines.  Consequently, discussions on documents CWG-FHR-14/4 and CWG-FHR-15/6 relating to Modifications to the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules did not take place during these sessions.



	Consideration of the elaboration of the first draft Financial Plan and modifications to Decision 5 (Revenue and expenses for the Union for the period 2024-2027)
(Document CWG-FHR-15/10) and Preliminary amount of the contributory Unit (Document CWG-FHR-15/11 (Rev. 1))
2.16	The secretariat presented document CWG-FHR-15/10 on the first draft Financial Plan for 2024-2027 resulting in a deficit (revenue minus expenses) of CHF 25.4 million. Further efforts will be made to present a balanced draft financial plan to Council 2022.  Document CWG-FHR-15/11 (Rev.1) on the preliminary amount of the contributory unit was also presented by the secretariat.
	Contribution by the USA - Possible new approach to financial risk management of construction 	(Document CWG-FHR-15/21)
2.17	The delegate from the United States of America presented the document proposing that the ITU Financial Management Group gather more information on the possible cost of using insurance as a means of transferring risk, as an alternative to the RRF and to report to Council 2022.  Following the delegates’ support, the proposal will be submitted to Council 2022 for approval.
	Strengthening the Regional Presence (Resolution 25 (Rev. Dubai, 2018)) – Regional presence review implementation (Documents CWG-FHR-14/18, CWG-FHR-15/13) and Contribution by Mexico - Strengthening ITU Regional Presence
(Document CWG-FHR-15/20)
2.18	Document CWG-FHR-15/13 was presented by the secretariat who advised the group that the Dashboard that it has published remained available on the website.  It reflects the implementation status of the workplan for the PWC report (based on the decisions made by CWG-FHR upon recommendation by the Ad Hoc Group on the Regional Presence). The secretariat should continue its work on the implementation of the PWC recommendations.
2.19	The delegate from Mexico introduced Document CWG-FHR-15/20 with proposals on the strategic positioning of the regional presence which includes decentralization of ITU staff, expansion of presence in North America and reporting of the 3 regional offices to the Deputy Secretary-General.  The secretariat commented that although the regional offices report to BDT, it considered itself as part of One ITU organization and that there was strong effective intersectoral coordination. Nevertheless, the secretariat would be prepared to consider and report on the issue of the regional presence reporting to the Deputy Secretary-General. A delegate expressed support on the current arrangement of the regional presence covered under BDT.
2.20	The proposals made by Mexico do not fall under the mandate of the CWG-FHR and should be pursued within preparations for the plenipotentiary conference.
	ITU compliance dashboard:  Follow-up on the recommendations of the External Auditor and IMAC (Document CWG-FHR-15/12)
2.21	The secretariat presented the document on the ITU Compliance Tracker and Dashboard, for information. The new tool which has been created in February 2021 shows in a clear manner the status of compliance to recommendations of the following oversight entities: The External audit, Independent Management Advisory Committee (IMAC), Joint Inspection Unit (JIU), Internal audit and Forensics audit.  A status report on compliance as of December 2021 to all recommendations of the External Auditor and IMAC was presented.
	JIU Reports on United Nations system-wide issues for 2020-2021 and recommendations to executive Heads and Legislative Bodies (Document CWG-FHR-15/2)
2.22	An updated document will be submitted by the secretariat to Council 2022 to include financial implications.
	Personal status for the purpose of ITU entitlements (Document CWG-FHR-15/7)
2.23	The secretariat presented the document containing a proposal to amend the Staff Regulations to allow the recognition of domestic partnerships in line with other UN organizations.  There was no consensus to implement the proposals.  However, it was agreed that the English translation of the Staff Regulations and Rules should be aligned with the French version given that French is the “controlling” language.
	Contribution by Australia and Canada - Personal status for the purpose of ITU entitlements (Document CWG-FHR-15/18)
2.24	Australia and Canada presented their proposal to replace the term “husband and wife” with “spouses” in the ITU Staff Regulations.  Further discussion is needed since there was no consensus reached.
	Contribution by Australia, Canada, New Zealand - Use of gender-neutral language in ITU texts (Document CWG-FHR-15/17)
2.25	Australia, Canada and New Zealand proposed to suppress Council Decision 500 and adopt a new Council Decision outlining the use of gender‑neutral language in ITU texts.  No consensus was reached, and further discussion is needed.
	Contribution by the Russian Federation - Preliminary draft Decision 11
(Rev. Dubai, 2018) on Creation and Management of Council Working Groups
(Document CWG-FHR-15/15)
2.26	The delegates were encouraged to send to the Russian Federation their comments to the proposed revision to Decision 11 as contained in the document.
2.27	Several delegates expressed thanks to the Chairman of CWG-FHR for the report.

	Recommendation
2.28	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of the work of the CWG-FHR as presented in document C22/50 and consider and offer views, as appropriate, on the actions identified in the report.




	Contribution by Australia and Canada - Proposal for implementation analysis on the use of gender-neutral language in ITU texts (document C22/68)
2.29	The delegate from Australia presented the document recommending that Council request the International Telecommunication Union (ITU) secretariat to examine the implementation of the use of gender-neutral language in future ITU texts, for Council’s full consideration without amending the ITU Constitution and Convention at this stage.
2.30	It is being proposed to consider the application of gender-neutral language to all English versions of ITU documents, and where possible, to Arabic, Chinese, French, Russian and Spanish versions; and the use of the following to all English versions of ITU documents: “Chair” and “Vice-Chair” (in lieu of “Chairman” and “Vice-Chairman”), “they/their (to replace “he/his” and she/her”), “spouse” (instead of “wife” or “husband”), “people” (in lieu of “mankind”), “workforce” or “human resources” (to replace “manpower”).
2.31	It is further proposed to consider possible implications of supressing Council Decision 500 and assess options for replacing the footnote to the ITU Constitution and Convention, which currently states, “the language used in the basic instruments of the Union (Constitution and Convention) is to be considered as gender neutral”.
2.32	A number of delegates expressed support to the proposal in particular:
· to reflect ITU’s work and objectives to mainstream and promote gender equality, parity and inclusion;
· to avoid any form of discrimination and provide equal opportunity;
· ITU is lagging behind other UN agencies who have already adopted this initiative;
· to follow the best practices and in line with UN guidelines.
2.33	However, several delegates expressed concern on the proposal and highlighted the following elements to be taken into consideration:
· need to obtain more data regarding the proposal;
· need time to review the proposal;
· differences and specificity in male/female gender may differ in other official languages;
· the number of documents to be revised;
· financial implications;
· to discuss this issue in the CWG for languages while avoiding duplication of work with SPM.
2.34	The secretariat will provide additional information including the financial implications of the proposal during the session on Friday, 25 March 2022 when HR-related documents will be discussed.  It also emphasized that the proposal pertains to future documents and not the ITU Constitution and Convention.  Moreover, the secretariat informed the delegates that the United Nations guidelines on gender-neutral language is available in six official UN languages which is applied in spoken and written as well as in internal and external communications.  These guidelines also include materials to respond to challenges encountered in the use of different languages.  A number of UN agencies have developed their own strategies and guidelines which may also be applicable to ITU.
2.35	Following a number of interventions from delegates on this matter, the Chairman concluded that informal consultations would continue.

2.36	The discussions resumed on 25 March 2022.  The contribution from the secretariat on Gender-neutral language was published (document C22/INF/16) on this day.

2.37	The delegate from Canada emphasized that the proposal is only to request ITU to examine the implementation of the use of gender-neutral language in future ITU texts, for Council’s full consideration without amending the ITU Constitution and Convention at this stage.  Nevertheless, he does not intend to further discuss this issue but expressed disappointment that ITU is behind other UN agencies in this regard.  The proposal will be submitted to CITEL who will forward the proposal to the Inter-American region.  Another delegate suggested that when submitting the proposal to the region, to take into consideration the linguistic differences in all the six ITU official languages.

2.38	Since there was no consensus, the Chairman concluded that no further discussion would be fruitful at this time.


	Report by the Chairman of the Council Working Group on Financial and Human Resources:  Four-year CWG-FHR report (document C22/54)

2.39	The Chairman of the Council Working Group on Financial and Human Resources (CWG-FHR), Ms Vernita D. Harris (United States of America) presented the four-year report of the Council Working Group on Financial and Human Resources (CWG-FHR) to Council 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022.
2.40	The CWG-FHR mandate was approved by Decision 563, modified in 2019.  The group is open to all Member States and Sector Members.  The terms of reference of the group include the following:
· addresses important financial and human resources matters between Council sessions, particularly those which require the review and possible modification of the ITU financial instruments (Financial Regulations and Financial Rules) as well as the Staff Regulations and Staff Rules;
· ensures that relevant recommendations of the UN Joint Inspection Unit, the External Auditor and the Independent Management Advisory Committee (IMAC) affecting financial and human resources management of the Union are taken into account;
· undertakes, on an annual basis, an evaluation of the implementation of results-based management including the prioritization of activities and initiatives of the Union taking into consideration specific criteria identified in the strategic plan for the Union; and
· maintains close association with ITU management and the Staff Council with a view towards identifying issues of common concern, in respect of which the Council’s opinions and guidance are required and justified.
2.41	The composition of the CWG-FHR are as follows:
9th, 10th and 11th meetings:
Chair: Mr. Dietmar Plesse (Germany)
Six Vice-Chairs:
	-	Ms Seynabou Seck Cisse (Senegal)
	-	Ms Vernita D. Harris (United States of America)
	-	Mr Mohamed S. Ali Al Muathen (United Arab Emirates)
	-	Ms Archana Goyal Gulati (Republic of India)
	-	Mr Andreiy S. Zhivov (Russian Federation)
	-	Mr Vilem Vesely (Czech Republic)

12th, 13th, 14th, and 15th meetings:
Chair: Ms Vernita D. Harris (United States of America)
Six Vice-Chairs:
· Ms Seynabou Seck Cisse (Senegal)
· Ms Xian Persaud (Bahamas) (12th meeting only)
· Mr Mohamed S. Ali Al Muathen Al Mazroei (United Arab Emirates)
· Ms Archana Goyal Gulati (Republic of India)
· Ms D.V. Kalyuga (Russian Federation)
· Mr Vilem Vesely (Czech Republic)

2.42	The links to the documents on the main outcome of the CWG-FHR 9th to 15th meetings are provided in the document.
[bookmark: _Hlk98678887]
[bookmark: _Hlk98868974]2.43	Several delegates thanked Ms Harris for the presentation of the report.  They also expressed gratitude to Mr Dietmar Plesse for his valuable contribution as the Chairman of the CWG-FHR during its 9th, 10th and 11th meetings.

	Recommendation
2.44	The Committee recommends that the Council consider this report and submit its recommendations to the Plenipotentiary Conference as appropriate, particularly the continuation of the activities of CWG-FHR for the next four years.




3	Annual review of revenue and expenses & Efficiency measures 	(document C22/9)

3.1	The secretariat presented the status of implementation of the 2022-2023 budget of the Union in compliance with No. 73 of the ITU Convention and in accordance with Resolution 1375.  In conformity with Decision 5 (Rev. Busan, 2014 and Rev. Dubai, 2018), paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of instructs the Secretary-General and the Directors of the Bureaux, the document presents an update on the implementation of the efficiency measures as outlined in Annex 2 to Decision 5 (Rev. Busan, 2014 and Rev. Dubai, 2018).

3.2	The updated budget for 2022-2023 totals KCHF 326,795 comprising KCHF 163,601 for 2022 and KCHF 163,194 for 2023.  The contributory unit for Member States of CHF 318,000 per annum has been maintained since 2006 (zero nominal growth).  The budget is implemented in line with Article 10 of the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules.

3.3	Taking into account the deferment of the World Telecommunication Development Conference (WTDC) from 2021 to 2022 and the deferment of the Inter Regional Meeting (IRM) for the preparation of the WTDC from 2021 to 2022, the budget for 2022 has been increased by KCHF 1,640 resulting in an updated budget for 2022 in the amount of KCHF 163,601.

3.4	Table 1 shows the 2022 budget with actuals as of 31 January 2022 and expense forecast by sector until 31 December 2022.  Table 2 provides the 2022 budget with revenue forecast by source until 31 December 2022.  The forecasts in both Tables 1 and 2 were made as of 31 January 2022.  The preliminary forecast for 2022 revenue of CHF 159.9 million is the same amount for forecasted expenses.  Both revenue and expense forecasts are CHF 3.7 million lower than the updated budget for 2022 of CHF 163.6 million.

3.5	Table 3 shows the assessed contributions as of 31 January 2022 which is forecasted to be around KCHF 82 lower than budgeted.

3.6	Table 4 presents the breakdown in cost recovery revenue that is estimated to be CHF 3.7 million lower by the end of 2022 which is the main source of revenue shortfall.

3.7	Table A shows the savings of CHF 57.6 million derived from the 30 efficiency measures as enumerated in Annex 2 to Decision 5 (Rev. Busan, 2014) covering the period 2014-2019.

3.8	Table B outlines the actual and forecasted savings in each of the 27 efficiency measures identified in Annex 2 to Decision 5 (Rev. Dubai, 2018) with CHF 13.9 million in 2020 and CHF 11.9 million in 2021.  For the period of 2020-2023, further analysis of these measures will be made during the budget implementation which will be the basis for updated savings estimates.

3.9	Following queries and request for clarification from delegates, the secretariat provided the following information:

· Cost recovery.  Revenue forecast from cost recovery in the amount of CHF 29.7 million as of end-2022 is lower than the budget primarily due to the absence of charges to ITU Telecom since there will be no event in 2022 as well as the lower revenue from SNF.
· Revenue generation and expense reduction.  A World Café, was organized by the secretariat’s Coordination Committee with representatives of the three bureaux and the General Secretariat, to collect ideas on revenue generation, reducing expenditure and balancing the draft Financial Plan.  Document C/22/INF/13 provides the information on the process and outcome of the World Café.  The management is reviewing and assessing the outcome to determine which could be implemented.
· Further measures on expense reduction.  The secretariat is also making efforts to reduce expenses in accordance with the measures outlined in Annex 2 to Decision 5 (Rev. Busan, 2014).
· Other sources of revenue.  The secretariat continues its efforts in finding other sources of revenue and continue to implement Resolution 158 (Rev. Busan, 2014), Decisions 600 and 601.
· Financial consequences of Covid-19.  Although some savings on travel have been made during the pandemic, unforeseen additional expenses were incurred relating to health, security and safety measures including special cleaning and purchase of medical, sanitary and disinfection products.
· New building expenses.  There are costs, e.g IT equipment and information and record management, which are not covered by the loan from Switzerland as indicated in document C22/63 on the Draft Financial Plan for 2024-2027.
· UNSMIS.  In line with the agreement on UNSMIS health coverage for staff, ITU pays USD 1.6 million/year as referred to in Table 1.1 of document C22/63.
· ASHI update.  The UN Working Group on ASHI where ITU is a member has forwarded recommendations to the UN Secretary-General.  The General Assembly decision is being awaited which ITU will use as basis for the next steps.  An amount is allocated to refurbish the ASHI fund.
· Satellite Network.  The secretariat clarified that the complexity of satellite network has drastically increased. The quality of filings that have been received have also changed. Consequently, Decision 482 on the Implementation of cost recovery for satellite network filings needs to be further reviewed and assessed.
· The secretariat expressed appreciation on the recognition which was highlighted by a delegate that some deficits are the result of additional activities that Member States have requested the secretariat to implement but which have not been funded, i.e. UMACs (Unfunded Mandatory Activities).  The outcome of WTDC in June 2022 (Kigali) is being awaited to be included in the Financial Plan for 2024-2027 for presentation to PP-22 (Bucharest).
· Staff costs.  The vacancy rate of 5 per cent was applied as an efficiency measure.  Consequently, the staff budget was based on 95 per cent of actual cost only and part of the savings have been used to offset the cost.

	
Recommendation
3.10	The Committee recommends that the Council endorse document C22/9.



4	Cost recovery for the processing of Satellite Network Filings (D 482(MOD)) (document C22/16)

4.1	Document C22/ 16 presents a status report on the implementation of cost recovery for satellite network filings in accordance with Council Decision 482 (modified 2020).  Table 1 of the document presents the total amount of invoices issued, the amount of invoices that were subject to free entitlement and the amount of payments received in 2020 and 2021.  It should be noted that the percentage of invoices issued in 2020/2021 and paid in a timely manner continues to be higher than 99 per cent.  Additionally, it was observed that the implementation of Decision 482 by the Radiocommunication Bureau did not give rise to any substantive administrative or operational difficulty either internally or with administrations notifying satellite network filings.

4.2	One delegate asked about the future of the Council Expert Group on Decision 482.  The BR Director explained that this is an Expert Group that is convened by Council whenever it is determined that there may be a need to revise Council Decision 482.  He therefore proposed that the BR undertake a study and submit to Council 2023 an assessment on whether further revisions to Decision 482 should be considered.

	Recommendation
4.3	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of document C22/16.



	Provisional participation of entities dealing with telecommunication matters in the activities of ITU (document C22/31)

4.4	The secretariat presented document C22/31, which reports to Council the names of the “entities dealing with telecommunication matters”, which were provisionally included in the lists of Sector Members and Associates to participate in the work of the Sectors. A total of six such requests to become Sector Member and four to become Associate were received in 2021. Each of these entities has been approved by their respective Member State. No comments were made following the presentation.

	Recommendation
4.5	The Committee recommends that the Council endorse the action taken by the Secretary-General regarding the admission of the entities dealing with telecommunication matters, as listed in Annex to document C22/31.



	Request for Exemption from any financial contribution to defraying expenses relating to participation in the work of ITU (document C22/39)

4.6	The secretariat presented document C22/39 which includes new requests from entities for exemption from Sector Membership fees. Exemption from fees is granted by Council following an analysis of the relevant Sectors and a recommendation by the Secretary-General.

4.7	The main criteria include the following: The entity must be an organization of international character, dealing with telecommunications/ICTs. They must be legally recognized, with a significant membership, presence and activities in multiple Member States, and must be non-profit-making, and have members that are also non-profit, and they must offer reciprocal benefits to ITU. If approved, they become Sector Members or Associates under the terms of No. 231 of the Convention.

4.8	In document 22/39, the Secretary-General recommends that Council approve the request by the Digital Cooperation Organization for ITU-D Sector Membership with fee exemption, as its membership comprises seven founding Member States and it commits to reciprocity. The Secretary-General recommends deferring the requests from TSDSI and IoT Lab until the review of the full list is conducted to ensure that we treat all similar entities, equitably. As in information document C22/INF/10, “Status Report on Review of List of Exempted Entities”, the secretariat is currently conducting this review and will report to the next session of Council just prior to PP-22.

	Recommendation
4.9	As recommended by the Secretary-General, the Committee recommends that the Council approve the request of the Digital Cooperation Organization for ITU-D Sector Membership with fee exemption, and that Council defer the requests of TSDSI and IoT Lab until the review of the full list of exempted entities is conducted and reported to the next session of Council.



	Contribution by India (Republic of) - Private Sector and Academia Membership in ITU sectors with focus on LDCs, LLDCs, SIDS and Countries in Special Need (CISN) (document C22/79)

4.10	The delegate from the Republic of India presented document C22/79 highlighting the current levels of participation of the private sector and academia in ITU activities from specific categories of countries (LDCs, LLDCs, SIDSs, CISN). Noting that despite best efforts to date, there is still a significant gap in their presence in membership of ITU, the delegate from the Republic of India made several recommendations, including:

· consider having a “Network for industry, Academia in “LDCs, LLDCs, SIDS, CISNs;
· spread ITU awareness on social media with the ITU Focal point of respective countries and ITU team as a facilitator;
· develop a blueprint for LDC, LLDC, SIDS, CISNs for enhanced engagement from academia and the private sector;
· review membership fees for academia and private sector from the respective countries;
· do a Global Capacity Building Initiative to expand activities specific to industry and academia in these countries; and
· deliberate other necessary measures to enable enhanced participation and handholding.

4.11	The Indian delegate informed the Council on the importance of this contribution in the context of the upcoming 5th LDCs conference, which is scheduled next year. ITU should develop its inputs for the same, taking into consideration the ongoing activities from ITU for LDCs and also on its plans as per the proposals mentioned in the contribution.

4.12	Several delegates took the floor to thank the Republic of India for their contribution and to support the proposals outlined in document C22/79 and sought to take forward the proposals considering their importance for LDCs, LLDCs, SIDs, CISNs. Some delegates noted the need to consider in greater detail how such proposals could be implemented, and to analyse the potential financial implications, in particular for any potential changes to membership fees. One delegate noted that BDT could look more closely at how to implement the recommendations including for regional networks of academia and the private sector. Another delegate noted that building the social media should be left to Member States. One delegate noted that the fee exemption also be considered for such entities and another delegate highlighted that by engaging academia in these countries in particular, ITU would be cultivating the next generation of ICT experts.

	Recommendation
4.13	A synchronized and comprehensive engagement on enhancing sectoral and academia membership from LDCs, LLDCs, SIDs, CISNs is important which is currently observed very low. The Committee recommends that the Council further consider the recommendations outlined in document C22/79 aimed at increasing the participation of the private sector and academia from Member States within the LDC, LLDC, SIDS and CISN categories, including implementation and cost implications. The secretariat is directed to work out details and bring the matter to the attention of the WTDC and the plenipotentiary conference. The Republic of India and other Members are also encouraged to provide inputs on the relevant activities and resolutions addressed at these conferences.



	Preliminary amount of the contributory unit (document C22/29)

4.14	The secretariat presented the document enumerating the provisional class of contribution of Member States for the period 2024-2027 in comparison with 2020-2023.  The amount of the contributory unit has been set by Council 2021 at the same level of CHF 318,000 for the period covering 2024-2027.

4.15	The Secretary-General has invited Member States to announce their provisional class of contribution for 2024-2027 by 31 December 2021 which will serve as a reliable and realistic basis for the secretariat in preparing the draft Financial Plan for 2024-2027 in anticipation of the 2022 Plenipotentiary Conference.  The draft 2024-2027 Financial Plan provides a good reference for PP-22 in establishing the Union’s budget and in determining financial limitations after having taken into consideration the relevant aspects of the work of the Union during this period.

4.16	Annex 1 shows the list of Member States with the corresponding number of contributory units in 2020-2023 and the provisional number of contributory units for 2024-2027. With seventeen (17) Member States that have replied maintaining the number of their provisional contributory units as in 2020-2023, the total number of contributory units remains the same, i.e. 343 11/16 units as of 31 December 2021.

4.17	There were no comments made following the presentation.

	Recommendation
4.18	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of document C22/29.



	Draft Financial Plan for the Union for 2024-2027 (document C22/63)

[bookmark: _Hlk99016101]4.19	The secretariat presented the draft financial plan for 2024-2027 with both revenue and expenses amounting to CHF 639.85 million (balanced).  The document shows the preliminary analysis of variances between the 2020-2023 financial plan and the 2020-2021 and 2022-2023 Budgets.

4.20	The first draft financial plan for 2024-2027 was presented and discussed during the 15th meeting of the Council Working Group on Financial and Human Resources (CWG-FHR) in January 2022 (Document CWG-FHR-15/10).

4.21	The draft financial plan for 2024-2027 provides a tool for the 2022 Plenipotentiary Conference to establish the basis for the budget of the Union and determine related financial limits, until the next plenipotentiary conference, after considering all relevant aspects of the work of the Union in the period concerned (Article 8, No. 51 of the Constitution).  It will allow Member States to determine at the end of the plenipotentiary conference the framework of their financial commitments to the Union for the 2024-2027 period, based on the approved amount of the contributory unit, the provisional amount of which is fixed at CHF 318,000.

4.22	The following elements have been taken into consideration in the financial plan
for 2024-2027:
· Financial – based on the revenue-expenses structures stipulated in the financial regulations;
· Result-based – in line with the structure of the strategic plan;
4.23	The key drivers for the preparation of the financial plan are as follows:
· Strategic plan and priority areas;
· Amount of the contributory unit;
· Overall revenue level for the timeframe (ceiling of expenses);
· Work programme.

4.24 	The following bases and assumptions have been taken into consideration in the draft financial plan for 2024-2027:
· 2022-2023 Budget revenue and expenses;
· Revenue status as of 1 January 2022 for the assessed contributions (Member States, Sector Members, Associates and Academia);
· Zero-nominal growth in the amount of the contributory unit of CHF 318,000 which remains unchanged since 2006;
· Standard costs used for the 2022-2023 budget;
· No vacancy rate applied since the 5 per cent vacancy rate in the 2020-2023 financial plan is no longer realistic and presents a risk to the budget implementation.  The vacancy rate is to be replaced by a theoretical but realistic recruitment delay;
· Possible future cost increases/decreases during 2024-2027 (inflation, salary increase, rising health care cost, etc.) have not been taken into account in the draft financial plan for 2024-2027 which may be taken into consideration, if required, during the preparation of the 2024-2025 and 2026-2027 budgets.
[bookmark: _Hlk99010888]4.25	Table 1 presents the Expenses by Sector showing the variance between the financial plan 2020-2023 and the financial plan 2024-2027 as well as the variance between the expense budgets for 2020-2021+2022-2023 and the financial plan 2024-2027.  The variations on the expenses are mainly related to the health insurance UNSMIS (plus CHF 5.6 million), the new building, the cancellation of the 5 per cent vacancy rate and the introduction of various efficiency measures to balance the plan.  A global cut of CHF 17 million is being proposed to give sufficient flexibility to Council and management when preparing the 2024-2025 and 2026-2027 budgets to reflect on new ways and means to balance these budgets.

4.26	Table 2 enumerates the revenue by source showing the variance between the financial plan 2020-2023 and financial plan 2024-2027 as well as the variance between the revenue budgets for 2020-2021+2022-2023 and the financial plan 2024-2027.  There is an estimated reduction in revenue primarily since there are no savings from previous year’s budget implementation given that significant surplus has not been generated.  Another reason for the reduction in revenue is the decrease in cost recovery from project support costs revenue and cost recovery for the satellite network filings.  However, this is partially offset by a forecasted increase in the sales of publications revenue and the introduction of progressive resource mobilization over the four-year period to co-fund some regular activities.

4.27	Table 3 outlines the Unfunded Mandatory Activities (UMACs) totaling CHF 31.7 million which consist of main programme variations compared to the current budget and financial plan that could not be funded in the 2024-2027 draft financial plan during this current stage of its preparation.

4.28	The secretariat provided the following clarifications and additional information to address the queries from the delegates:
· The financial plan is linked with the strategic plan.  The draft Resolution 71 has been prepared by the CWG on Strategic and Financial Plans 2024-2027.  The final outputs will be taken into consideration in the update of the draft financial plan for 2024-2027.
· Inflation.  The ITU budget consists primarily of staff salaries representing 76 per cent and therefore not affected by inflation.  However, the cost of inflation would be taken into consideration in the construction for the new building.
· ASHI.  As explained during Council every year, the secretariat once again highlighted that there are no issues relating to the funding for ASHI in the near future since the budget takes into consideration the health insurance for staff.  IPSAS requires that the organization provides continuous health insurance coverage for serving and retired staff even after the closure of the organization.  Council 2010 has therefore decided to replenish the ASHI fund with CHF 4 million transferred from the Reserve Account to start with. The current balance in the ASHI fund amounts to CHF 13 million.  From 2022 onward, all staff who are coming onbard are required to pay 5.35 per cent contribution for ASHI which is expected to cover the requirements by 2030-2040.  Members may decide whether regular replenishment of the ASHI fund should be made.  The UN Working Group in ASHI where ITU is a member has forwarded recommendations to the UN Secretary-General to be forwarded to the General Assembly for decision.  ITU will apply the outcome of the decision for the next steps to take.
· Surplus funds.  Since the vacancy rate of 5 per cent had been applied as an efficiency measure, the staff budget has been based on 95 per cent of staff cost only and therefore a part of the savings was used to offset the cost.   In previous years, the amount of savings was greater than recently due to the delays in recruitment and early separation of staff.  Moreover, the surplus funds diminished in recent years as a result of the reduction in revenue including the cost recovery e.g., there has been no physical Telecom events in 2020 and 2021 and therefore, no cost recovery of CHF 1.5 million per year was charged to Telecom.  The secretariat alerted the delegates that in the future, it will not be possible to use the surplus fund to balance the budget.
· ICTDF.  This Fund is aimed to finance the ICT projects of BDT for developing countries.  It has been replenished in previous years by the Exhibition Working Capital Fund (EWCF) to which the net result of each Telecom event had been transferred.  However, due to the financial challenges being faced by Telecom, no transfer of funds were made from the EWCF to ICTDF in the recent years.
· Number of posts in the secretariat remains constant.  The additional posts for the three sectors and the General Secretariat pertain to the Unfunded Mandatory Activities (UMACs) as referred to in Table 3 of document C22/63.
· Indirect costs.  In line with Decision 619, the host country loan only covers the direct project cost.  The indirect costs, i.e., the IT equipment, information and records management, working tools of the Union and ITU website are funded by sponsorships and donations.  Table 3 of document C22/63 on UMACs refers.
· Variance between the draft financial plan for 20224-2027 and the 2020-2021 & 2022-2023 budgets.  Table 1.1 shows that the General Secretariat has significantly higher budget variance compared with the three sectors since expenses that benefit both the General Secretariat and the three sectors are reflected under the General Secretariat.  These include payments to UNSMIS of USD 1.6 million per year, first annuity for the new building, suppression of the 5 per cent vacancy rate, etc. 
· UMACs.  The outcomes of WTSA-20 and WTDC-22 will be added to the list of UMACs.
· CHF 17 million reduction.  The global cut of CHF 17 million being proposed has been agreed between the General Secretariat and the three sectors in order to give sufficient flexibility to Council and management when preparing the 2024-2025 and 2026-2027 budgets and to reflect on new ways and means to balance these budgets.  The secretariat is confident that the new management will identify the measures on how to absorb the CHF 17 million which relate to the 2024-2025 and 2026-2027 budgets.
· Regional bureaux.  The recommendations of the Consultant (PWC) have been forwarded to the CWG-FHR in 2021.  An ad hoc group was created who concluded that there will be no change in the structure and staffing of the regional bureaux. There are no reduction in regional initiative activities but only in the source of funding allocation.  Out of the CHF 5 million allocated for BDT regional initiatives, the CHF 3 million is reflected under UMACs in Table 3 of document C22/63.  Consequently, it appears as a reduction under BDT programme variation in Table 1.4.
· Revenue generation and expense reduction.  The secretariat requested members to bring forward some new ideas on how to generate more revenue.  The Coordination Committee represented by the three bureaux and the General Secretariat organized a World Café to gather ideas on revenue generation, reducing expenditure and balancing the draft financial plan.  More information can be found in document C/22/INF/13.  Management is reviewing and assessing the outcome to determine which among these ideas could be implemented.
· Future of Telecom.  There have been no physical Telecom events in 2020
and 2021.  It is uncertain whether there will be an event in 2022.  A study by a consultant (Dalberg) took place.  The discussions during the forthcoming presentation in the Plenary is being awaited.

	Recommendation
4.29	The Committee recommends that the Council transmit the latter to the 2022 Plenipotentiary Conference. 




5	New ITU accountability model and framework (document C22/57)

5.1	The document on the accountability framework was presented by the secretariat.  The purpose of the project is to further strengthen the accountability mechanisms within the organization, as recently reported by the Council Working Group on Financial and Human Resources (CWG-FHR-15/5, CWG-FHR-14/2).  It has been developed in line with the following management initiatives:

· Action Plan of the Working Group on Internal Controls;
· Improvements in the Results-Based Management framework and the development of the delegation of authority framework;
· Implementation of the Risk Management Action Plan;
· Development of the ITU Compliance Dashboard;
· Other related projects, including the Leadership Culture Assessment and the Culture Diagnosis and Skills Gap Project.
5.2	A total of 36 elements cover the nine components of the new ITU Accountability Framework:
· Control Environment & Oversight
· Result Based Management (RBM)
· Risk Management
· Control Activities
· Information
· Communication
· Performance Management
· Monitoring & Evaluation
· Trusted Places
5.3	Further analysis will be made to consider the possibility of including the following components in the framework which have been derived from some research based on best practice:
· Binding Leadership Guidelines (BLG)
· Published Best Work Practices
· Organizational Health Index
· Leadership Circles
· Ombuds
5.4	The secretariat will continuously monitor the status of the components and evaluate their efficiency and efficacy with a view of applying further improvements into the framework.  It is holding several consultations with relevant entities including the Joint Inspection Unit (JIU) whose 17 benchmarks (JIU/REP/2011/15) are reflected in the Accountability Framework.  Consultations are also taking place with internal experts, other UN agencies and IMAC to test the framework and gather advice from best practice models.
5.5	Following the queries and requests for clarification from the delegates, the secretariat provided the following information:
· Old and new model.  The old accountability model is based only on the 17 recommendations by the Joint Inspection Unit (JIU).  The new model is based on the recommendations from the External Auditor Report (2019 Financial Statements) and the PWC Report on Regional Presence.  It takes into consideration the best practices in the United Nations and the efficiency measures including avoiding duplication in the works of the General Secretariat and the 3 sectors.
· Recommendations.  The new model had been shared with IMAC and its recommendations have been taken into consideration.  Similarly, the External Auditor’s recommendations have also been taken into account in the new model.  It will also be shared with the incoming new External Auditor who will take up its functions in July 2022 and whose recommendations will be reflected in the report to Council 2023.
· Implementation.  Once the new model has been approved, a Service Note will be issued indicating which department in the secretariat will implement this new model.
· Dynamic.  The new model is dynamic and may be revised anytime to take into consideration any necessary improvements. 
· Reporting to Council.  Regular assessment and evaluation will be done each year on the new model.  The secretariat will present to Council every year on the status of implementation of the new model including the relevant updates.

	Recommendation
5.6	The Committee recommends that the Council endorse the new ITU accountability model and framework contained in document C22/57.




6	Memoranda of understanding having financial and/or strategic implications (Res. 192) (oral presentation)

6.1	The secretariat presented the consolidation of all MOUs with financial and/or strategic implications, now being available on the Council Dashboard. Four new MOUs were added in 2022. The secretariat would update the dashboard regularly.

6.2	While delegates welcomed easy access to the MOUs, several requested the secretariat to prepare a detailed report for Council 2023 providing clarity on the legal clauses, the status of the MOUs and an overview of the financial implications.

	Recommendation
6.3	The Committee recommends that the Council note the oral presentation and request the secretariat to prepare a detailed report for Council 2023 providing clarity on the legal clauses, the status of the MOUs and an overview of the strategic and financial implications.




[bookmark: _Hlk99015874]7	Strengthening the regional presence (document C22/25)

7.1	The secretariat introduced document C22/25 on Strengthening the regional presence.

7.2	It was noted that work had continued on the implementation of the recommendations made by PWC in its report on the Review of ITU’s Regional Presence. The secretariat highlighted that the survey on the level of satisfaction of Member States, Sector Members, and regional telecommunication organizations with ITU’s regional presence had been conducted, however the response rate was very low, and therefore steps were being taken by the secretariat to extend the survey and to encourage responses from more members, to ensure a valid result.

7.3	During 2021, considerable progress was made toward negotiation of a Host Country Agreement for the new ITU Office in the Republic of India. The HCA was finally agreed in early 2022 and was signed during WTSA.

7.4	The Chairman provided comments on some of the PWC recommendations for the regional presence based on her experience as the Chairman of that Group. In her comments, the Chairman noted that the PWC recommendation to remove D level Regional Directors in favour of P5s was not feasible as the D level was still needed to engage at high level with Member States. The Chairman also commented on the implementation of One-ITU principles in the regional presence and suggested that this would not necessarily mean implementing all bureaus in all offices, but perhaps organizing the work in a way to ensure that the customers of ITU enjoyed similar quality of service in the regional and area offices as they would at ITU headquarters. On this basis, the Chairman noted that the ad hoc committee agreed with the implementation of some of the recommendations as is, and all in principle. The Chairman noted that the ad hoc committee had recommended that the secretariat provide a working plan so that all members could track and monitor the performance. The Chairman hoped that the dashboard would continue to be used and made available until the report of PWC is fully implemented and noted the progress made with the Republic of India office in spite of the challenges with funding. Member States were invited to make concrete proposals based on the PWC recommendations to the Plenipotentiary Conference 2022.

7.5	The floor was opened for questions and comments.

7.6	One delegate noted that a significant amount of work had been done in the Arab States region by the Regional Office for the Arab States in Cairo, but that the document speaks very briefly to the projects implemented there.  This was reiterated by other delegates.

7.7	Another delegate noted the importance of the work done on the regional presence since the last plenipotentiary conference, and that the dashboard is a very useful tool and encouraged delegates to take note of the work that needs to be done in preparation for the next plenipotentiary conference.

7.8	One delegate explained that his delegation would convey its views formally in relation to Paragraph 4 of the report and asked for the record to note this.

7.9	Another delegate expressed the importance of the regional presence, particularly to provide for participation by developing countries. There was a need to, in light of the limited resources, continue to leverage digital technologies as had been done in the past two years. In this regard, there needed to be an increased use of teleworking allowing for decentralization of the regional presence in more countries. In this way, ITU could be closer to membership and this could also enhance the delivery of services to countries as well as closer work with Academia, Sector Members and all stakeholders.

7.10	One delegate expressed the importance of Resolution 25 and recognized the value of the regional offices particularly as host of the Regional Office in Bangkok, with which his country works closely in driving and pushing forward regional initiatives and empowering the Regional Office, highlighting the inclusion of initiatives to promote girls and women in ICTs. The delegate congratulated the progress made in the establishment of the new Area Office in the Republic of India. Finally, the delegate noted the relocation of the Regional Office in Bangkok to new premises hosted by the NBTC which would allow for closer collaboration. The new office would be formally opened in a ceremony on 30 June 2022.

7.11	One delegate explained that the regional presence is essential and in the Americas region the presence as seen as critical for implementation of regional initiatives. The delegate further noted that the PWC recommendations presented a number of recommendations, many of which were being implemented by the secretariat, but there are many related to the structure which, subject to financial considerations, needed to be carefully considered.  The need to retain a strong presence in Latin America and the Caribbean was highlighted, however all of the staffing and structural changes proposed by PWC remained on hold and need to be considered by membership at Council or at the plenipotentiary conference. It was also noted the suggestions from the World Café around redeployment and mobility and move of ITU staff from headquarters to the regions and the need to consider these possibilities for possible further strengthening of the regional presence. 

7.12	One delegate expressed appreciation to the secretariat for the work in progress on the measures recommended by PWC and hoped to see even more activities in the future and echoed the comments made by another delegate on the plans for the structural recommendations made by PWC. The delegate stressed the importance of the Regional Office hosted by Brazil in Brasilia and the good work being done there, and the continued importance of the representation in the Caribbean area.

7.13	One delegate highlighted the importance of Resolution 25 and the importance of the One-ITU concept and the need for the regional offices to represent the work of all three sectors in as complete a way as possible. It was believed that there is a need to increase and broaden the authority of Regional Directors, with appropriate controls. The delegate further noted that the headquarters-based implementation had implications for delivery which need to be addressed through strengthening of the regional offices.

7.14	One delegate noted the increase in responsiveness and performance of the Regional Office in the ASP region and looked forward to continued collaboration with that office.

7.15	Another delegate expressed appreciation for the report and the efforts made by the offices in Bangkok, Jakarta and the one to come in the Republic of India.

7.16	One delegate noted the high quality of the document and the key role played by the regional presence in implementation of regional initiatives and expressed support for the One-ITU concept being implemented in the regional presence and the recommendations by PWC on strengthening of the regional presence.

7.17	A delegate noted the importance of the regional presence as a key enabler of the ITU Strategic Framework noting the need for a strategic plan for each region noting the differences between regional characteristics. It was also noted the necessary focus on vulnerable countries, particularly LDCs and in the African perspective. The delegate further commented on the important strategic framework including financial and strategic/HR issues that surround the improvements needed in the regional presence.

7.18	One delegate noted their support for the regional presence and expressed eagerness to support further through the opening of the new regional office in Delhi and supported the comments made by other delegates in support of the regional office and the recommendations for strengthening.

7.19	A delegate echoed comments made by colleagues from the Arab Region on the excellent work being done by the regional office for the Arab Region which is not reflected in the report, and requested inclusion of the information in the report.

7.20	The report was noted by one delegate who joined other commentators in acknowledging the work of the secretariat and the regional office and congratulated the work of the Asia Pacific office in providing Member States in the region training and other activities to close the digital divide.

7.21	Another delegate echoed comments regarding the recommendations of PWC on the regional presence, while stressing the importance in retaining and strengthening ITU’s presence in the Caribbean region, which accounts for the diverse needs of the region.

7.22	One delegate echoed comments by others regarding strengthening the regional presence noting the importance of the regional offices in the Americas, to ensure full support for the diversity of the region, expressing support for the Area Office in Chile as well as the others.

7.23	One delegate thanked the secretariat for the efforts made in the regional offices and supported the important need for the offices, which are the first point of call between Member States and the ITU, thanking Egypt for its effort to support the Regional Office.

7.24	One delegate expressed appreciation for the work of ITU in strengthening and developing the regional presence and noted the close relationship between Indonesia and the regional office in Jakarta and thanked the BDT for support to Indonesia in its presidency of the G20, particularly the work of the Regional and Area Offices in Asia and the Pacific.

7.25	One delegate expressed the importance of the regional presence and the principle that it should collaborate closely with other regional organisations at the regional office. The delegate noted the just allocation of a further CHF 3 million for regional initiatives, but also noted the challenges with the disbursement of funds, and asked about the steps in place to address projects that may be stalled or delayed.

7.26	Another delegate thanked the Director and staff of the BDT for the efforts undertaken to support the regional offices, and thanked the Regional Director in the Arab States for the hard work to support the regions.

7.27	The BDT Director took the floor to respond to the comments, noting the great interest from all delegations which reflects the importance of the regional presence as ITU’s arm in the field.  ITU has spared no effort to support the regional presence to ensure support as One ITU, in collaboration with the other bureaus. The BDT Director recognised the Regional Directors present physically in Geneva for the Council meeting and noted that they are present to support delegates.

7.28	The BDT Director explained the need for an amendment to the report to better reflect the work done in the Arab States region, which is noted in the tables in the main document which comprised 21 activities and 7 specific projects and the proposals for strengthening the regional presence mentioned by one delegate arising out of the World Café was also noted. The BDT Director thanked the Republic of India for the soon to be new office, which will also have an innovation function, which could be replicated in all offices and thanked Thailand for the new premises for the Regional Office in Bangkok.

7.29	In response to comments made by one delegate, the secretariat explained that ITU is trying to streamline processes, with the changes, and noted that further information would be provided in connection with the internal controls reporting. This was aligned with comments made by another delegate on challenges that occur with projects and the secretariat reported that a Projects Board had been implemented which helps BDT to address any delays or problems, and directed delegates to the Projects Dashboard.

7.30	The secretariat noted by way of details that the update on the work in the Arab States region would be provided as an addendum to the report as soon as possible.

7.31	On the issue of redeployment of staff in general, responding to comments made by several delegates, BDT is working with HR on modalities for the mobility of staff so that the strengthening of the regional offices could be triggered by increasing momentum of movement of staff from HQ to the regions where possible. In response to the comments by one delegate on the need for regional strategic planning, it was noted that an exercise had been commenced for each region to have its own strategy for implementation of the ITU Strategic Plan which would help address delivery generally, including One ITU and identifying capacity needs. This process would be completed this year aligned with the new strategic planning process and it is hoped to have an information session or document available for the plenipotentiary conference. This is also aligned with the need to manage costs better to provide a better footprint, within the same cost envelope.

7.32	In response to a request from a delegate, the secretariat explained that the BDT is working on a delegation of authority matrix which will increase levels of authority in the region while ensuring accountability for those who exercise the authority. This work will be completed within the first half of this year so a matrix will be in place by the end of June.

7.33	The Chairman gave the floor to the BR Director who complemented the comments made by colleagues reassuring that although the Regional Presence is managed by the D Sector because most of the work is generated there, the BR, and also the TSB, are working very closely with the regions to provide support and assistance through the regional offices. Coordination has improved in the last year and it is felt that the regional presence is all of ITU representation in the field.

7.34	One delegate took the floor to suggest that the Directors of the Bureaux should organise an intensive virtual briefing course for regional and area offices to provide them information on the challenges BR and TSB are facing especially in relation to upcoming and recent conferences.

7.35	The TSB Director noted the close collaboration between TSB and the regional offices, noting that monthly calls are conducted and that TSB continues its outreach through close working and coordination with regional and area offices.

7.36	The BDT Director thanked the BR and TSB Directors for their comments and responded to the suggestion made by one delegate regarding an intensive virtual briefing course, that the BDT does this regularly through monthly Townhall meetings and regular information sessions. The BDT Director further noted that Mr. Bilel Jamoussi attended the most recent Townhall meeting to explain the outcomes from the WTSA, and that similar sessions had been held with the Deputy to the BR Director before and after the WRC.

7.37	Finally, the BDT Director noted that in response to staffing needs within the regions, a great initiative currently provided by Japan and People’s Republic of China is to provide Junior Professional Officers (JPOs) who can assist and provide support to BDT and thanked the Governments of the People’s Republic of China and Japan for their support and encouraged others to consider this possibility.

	Recommendation
7.38	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of document C22/25.





[bookmark: _Hlk98405025]8	Improvement of management and follow-up of the defrayal of ITU Expenses by Sector Members and Associates (document C22/41)

8.1	The Plenipotentiary Conference through Resolution 153 (Rev. Busan, 2014) instructed the Secretary-General, in consultation with the Directors of the Bureaux, to report to the Council on the management and follow-up of the defrayal of ITU expenses by Sector Members and Associates, highlighting any difficulty that may be encountered and proposing further improvements. 

8.2	The Secretary-General was granted greater flexibility since Council 2011 in the implementation of Resolution 152 (Rev. Guadalajara, 2010) concerning the provision on automatic removal with the aim of retaining current Members and facilitating the recovery of past debts. The Plenipotentiary Conference (Busan, 2014) modified Resolution 152 to take into account this flexibility.  The adoption of Resolution 152 resulted in better collection rate and consequently, the reduction in the debt of Sector Members and Associates.

8.3	Table 1 shows the collection rate from Sector Members, Associates and Academia from 2012 until 2021.  The collection rate of 2021 contributions from Sector Members is significantly high (98 per cent) and remained the same as in 2020 despite the COVID-19 pandemic while the rates for Associates and Academic Institutions also remained the same as in 2020 (94 per cent for Associates and 90 per cent for Academia).

8.4	Table 2 presents the current debt and arrears of Sector Members, Associates and Academia from 2012 to 2021.  Despite COVID-19, the current debt remained almost stable during the last year.  As in 2020, a grace period of six months was granted by the Secretary-General to all ITU members before applying default interest on arrears due taking into consideration the COVID-19 pandemic.

8.5	As a result of writing off by Council 2021 of irrecoverable debts of more than ten years amounting to CHF 2.7 million, arrears have significantly decreased from CHF 17.8 million in 2012 to CHF 7.6 million in 2021.

8.6	Efforts have been made to re-engage frozen entities at risk of exclusion.  Nevertheless, as of January 2021, of the 55 entities that would have been excluded in line with Resolution 152 in January 2021, the secretariat succeeded in convincing 17 entities to settle their fees out of which fourteen were reactivated, while 10 officially denounced. Sixty per cent of the denounced entities have resolved their financial situation.

8.7	Annex 1 provides a list of suspended members since 1 October 2021 (frozen since 1 January 2022).

8.8	Annex 2 enumerates the members to be excluded effective 30 June 2022 (frozen since January 2021).



8.9	The secretariat presented three recommendations:

· The continuation of close collaboration between the secretariat, the Bureaux and the Regional Offices for the follow-up of the payment of fees by Sector Members, Associates and Academia noting that coordinated efforts are necessary to retain suspended entities with the aim of recovering their arrears and re-activating their participation in the work of the Sectors.
· The Secretary-General continue to exclude long-term suspended entities, as they are unlikely to be re-engaged and repay their dues.  Experience has shown that flexibility has been useful to provide additional time to retain some entities. 
· The secretariat requests those administrations which, pursuant to Article 19 of the Convention, approve the participation of Sector Members, Associates and Academia to continue providing ongoing support by following up entities in arrears with their contributions.
8.10	The secretariat expressed its gratitude to the administration of the United States of America and Iran for their efforts in following-up the payment of outstanding fees.  It is hoped that this will be followed by other administrations.

	Recommendation
8.11	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of the report by the Secretary-General on the improvement of management and follow-up of the defrayal of ITU expenses by Sector Members, Associates and Academia and endorse the recommendations as per Section 4 of the above document.



9	Report on the implementation of Resolution 191 (Rev. Dubai, 2018) - Strategy for the coordination of efforts among the three Sectors of the Union (document C22/38 (Rev.1))

9.1	The Deputy Secretary-General presented the report on the implementation of Resolution 191 (Rev. Dubai, 2018) on the strategy for the coordination of efforts among the three Sectors of the Union.

9.2	In line with the revision of Resolution 191 (Rev. Dubai, 2018) on the “Strategy for the coordination of efforts among the three Sectors of the Union”, the secretariat regular reports to the Council, the Council Working Group on Financial and Human Resources (CWG-FHR), and to all three Sector advisory groups on intersectoral coordination of activities.  Mechanisms and efforts to continue to improve intersectoral coordination were further enhanced, and closer coordination between the secretariat’s Inter-Sectoral Coordination Task Force (ISC-TF) and the membership’s Inter-Sector Coordination Group (ISCG) was accomplished.

9.3	Within the secretariat, the Inter-Sectoral Coordination Task Force (ISC-TF) was created to enhance the coordination and collaboration among the three Bureaux and the General Secretariat to avoid internal duplication of effort and optimize the use of resources. Service Order No. 16/13 enumerates the Terms of Reference of the ISC-TF.  The group has conducted several meetings on topics relating to Accessibility, Emerging Trends and Artificial Intelligence, Bridging the Standards Gap, Communications and Web Editorial, Community Networks, Emergency Telecommunications, Environment and Smart Sustainable Communities, Events Coordination, Gender, Geospatial Activities, Membership, Resource Mobilization and SMEs, and Multilingualism.

9.4	ISC-TF has achieved several outcomes relating to Inter-sectoral coordination strategy, Inter-Sectoral Coordination Task Force Report, Remote participation, Joint Inspection Unit Memorandum of Understanding, ITU risk management framework and ITU Compliance Dashboard, Accessibility, Communications and Web Editorial, Geospatial Activities, Membership, Resource Mobilization, SMEs, Multilingualism, Webpages by theme, New initiative: Conference Coordination Group (CCG) and Strategic Plan for the Union 2024-2027.

9.5	The Conference Coordination Group (CCG) was created in July 2021 to improve cooperation, coordination, and harmonization in the preparation of the three main conferences planned for 2022 aiming for better teamwork, better utilization of resources and avoiding duplication of efforts.  It is chaired by the Deputy Secretary-General and represented by the three sectors including the regional directors.  14 subgroups were created to deal with key issues relating to communications, registration, accreditation, document management, interpretation, IT and AV support, safety and security, editorial, legal, logistics, content, membership promotion and management, protocol, publications, finance and staff travel.

9.6	The Inter-Sector Coordination Group (ISCG) was created jointly by the Radiocommunication Advisory Group (RAG), the Telecommunication Standardization Advisory Group (TSAG), and the Telecommunication Development Advisory Group (TDAG).  The group identifies subjects common to the three sectors and the General Secretariat.

9.7	Some delegates expressed appreciation on the efforts made by the secretariat as reflected in the report and highlighted their support to the implementation of Resolution 191 in the principle of One ITU and to make ITU more efficient.

9.8	In response to a query regarding the use of the two platforms on remote participation, the secretariat informed the delegates that the two existing platforms will continue to be used.  “My Meetings” is a tool developed by TSB which provides e-meetings services to participants in the work of ITU-T i.e., study groups.  Zoom is another tool used for virtual meetings that are attended by a bigger number of participants.

	Recommendation
9.9	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of
document C22/38 (Rev.1).




10	Report on progress on the Union's headquarters premises project (document C22/7 (Rev.1))

10.1		The secretariat introduced document C22/7 (Rev.1) on the Report on the progress on the Union’s headquarters premises project and confirmed that the project remains on schedule and on budget.

10.2	The delegate from Kuwait informed about the mistake in the Arabic version of the document which reads that the Kuwait’s sponsorship is CHF 2 million. As the Kuwait sponsorship is CHF 2.5 million and CHF 250,000.00 were already paid, it should read “CHF 2.25 million left”.

10.3	Some delegates expressed their concern on the meetings and events being held during the construction phase.  The secretariat provided the updated information on the status of hosting of technical meetings during the construction period and the ongoing discussions with Hungary, Czech Republic, Rwanda and the People’s Republic of China. Some delegates also expressed their concern that the allocation to the Risk Register Fund is significantly less than the CHF 12.6 million specified in Council Decision 619.

10.4	Another concern was related to the property which includes the gifts received from Members States as where they will be temporarily moved. The secretariat informed that there is a catalog containing all gifts and donated items and it is foreseen to safely store them in a location during the construction period. The intent is to expose them in the new building on a rotational basis.

10.5	One delegate requested additional clearance and transparency on the Memoranda of Understanding for sponsorship and donations and the Council’s role in reviewing them prior to their signature. The Deputy Secretary-General clarified that the documents in question are not MoUs but sponsorship agreements, in line with the principles of the document C18/47. The sponsorship agreements are not confidential documents and can be made available as they are also the straightforward documents explaining what the sponsorship money is to be used for, the payment schedule and the respective responsibilities.

10.6	The secretariat also confirmed that a Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) contract with an Open Book Provision will guarantee that the maximum approved amount of CHF 172’690,000.00 for the Project will not be exceeded.

10.7	One delegate stated that in accordance with Article 29 of the ITU Financial Regulations and Financial Rules, they will be submitting the written request to receive a copy of the Internal Audit report which should be finalized by mid-May.

10.8	As for the surplus stock that will be sold to the employees, this is not an unusual practice for ITU. It is the result of the ongoing decluttering and an obligation of emptying all Varembé spaces prior to its dismantling. This dedicated special initiative for the sales of obsolete items is in line with the recommendations by the Environmental Sustainability Group led by the management and it consists in first to sell and give the objects a second life, second to donate and/or give away to charities, third to recycle and finally, as the last option, to send to the landfill. The money recovered from the sale will serve to reimburse the current loans and the rest will be used to reduce the loan of the new building.

10.9	The delegate from Nigeria drew the attention to the page 8 of the document in which there is no information on the Nigeria donation and requested a clarification for it. The secretariat explained that when this Council document was prepared in January, the letter of agreement with Nigeria hadn’t been signed yet. Meanwhile, ITU did receive Nigeria’s donation of CHF 50,000.00.



	Recommendation
10.10	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of the report and approve the use of indirect project costs for notary fees to engage an external legal firm.




	Summary report on the work of the Member States Advisory Group on the Union's Headquarters premises project (document C22/48)

10.11	Mr. Greg Ratta, Chairman of the Member States Advisory Group, presented document C22/48 on the Union’s Headquarters premises project and clarified that three MSAG meetings were held since June 2021 VCC: two of them reflected in this document and the latest one held on 10 March 2022, after the deadline for the submission of the Council documents.

10.12	The attention is drawn to one item discussed at that last (17th) meeting, that is to hire a specialist in the construction law. The ITU Legal Affairs Unit suggested to engage an external legal firm with expertise in construction contracts. The funds have not been yet identified, as this risk was not foreseen. The cost should be approximately CHF 20’000, but this amount is still to be confirmed. There is the indirect cost budget for notary fees which might be used. Although the MSAG was being very attentive to the details, this particular decision is for the broader Council.

10.13	Delegates are invited to contact their respective regional representatives for any questions regarding the New HQ Project and especially for the Risk Register quarterly updates.

10.14	The question on staff issues during the transition period was addressed. There is a space allocation plan which establishes the use of up to 60 per cent of the current spaces, all buildings included. The management is to decide on the allocation of desks on a daily basis.

10.15	The delegate from Tunisia confirmed Tunisia’s readiness to contribute to hosting some meetings as it was done in the past.  The Deputy Secretary-General reassured that the information on which meetings would require hosting will be provided, as there is a minimum cost for the supporting staff required.

	Recommendation
10.16	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of the report in document C22/48.



	New approach to financial risk management of construction (document C22/62)

10.17	The secretariat presented the document on the new approach to financial risk management in relation to the construction of the new building in response to the request from the United States of America during the CWG-FHR meeting in January 2022 to gather more information about the possible costs and consider the use of insurance as a means of transferring risk as an alternative to the Risk Register Fund (RRF) and report to Council 2022.

10.18	Council 2019 decided in September 2019 through Decision 619 to provide an additional financial guarantee to compensate for non-mitigable risks up to CHF 12.6 million, representing the cumulative limit of 8 per cent of the current direct cost estimates described in document C19-ADD/2, by establishing a Risk Register Fund to be funded under subsequent Council decisions from 2020 onwards, in accordance with the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules.

10.19	During the MSAG meeting on 15 December 2021 and the CWG-FHR meeting on
11-12 January 2022, the secretariat was requested to gather information on a possible transfer of the risk of a non-funding of the Risk Register Fund to a third institution.  Consequently, the secretariat contacted brokers and other Geneva-based international organizations who had recent construction projects to determine whether such insurance was available on the market.

10.20	ILO and UNOG, which have recently undertaken similar projects were contacted by ITU.  ILO has used the same approach of setting up several insurance policies to cover the risks according to their nature, i.e. damage, accidents, damage to the working area, design errors and incomplete specifications, budget overruns, 	delay, defects and scope creep. However, ILO has not taken additional insurance for risk management for other risks.  The UNOG Strategic Heritage Plan (SHP) construction and renovation project management is not aware of the existence of insurance coverage for hypothetical amounts in a risk register.  Contingency/reserve is allocated in the budget to take into account the different risks based on their probability and the time at which these risks might occur.

10.21	Contractors were also consulted (CDTK and Hill International) who advised that none of the risks examined are actually insurable on the market since these are business or contractual risks and not related to physical loss, damage or legal liability.  They do not believe the benefits of such insurance which is not in conformity with Swiss SIA standards and practices.

10.22	The secretariat recommends to continue to give priority to the provisioning of the Risk Register Fund given that insurance for risk management does not currently exist on the market.  At the end of the construction, unutilized funds in the Risk Register Fund will be returned into the Reserve Account in accordance with Decision 619.

10.23	Several delegates expressed thanks to the secretariat for the report and support the recommendation to continue with the existing Risk Register Fund while ensuring that there are enough funds in the Risk Register.

10.24 	The secretariat thanked the delegates, the host country (Switzerland), MSAG, and all sponsors and donors for their continued support and collaboration on the construction project.  The years 2023-2026 will be a difficult period for the Union when the Varembe building will be dismantled and the new building will be constructed and therefore, delegates are encouraged to consider the possibility of hosting technical meetings.

	Recommendation
10.25	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of document C22/62 and its recommendation.




[bookmark: _Hlk99097482]11	Information and Communication Technologies Development Fund
(ICT-DF) (document C22/34)

11.1	In accordance with resolutions of the plenipotentiary conferences and Council, Document C22/34 presents the main activities and progress of the Information and Communication Technologies Development Fund (ICT-DF) in supporting the implementation of development projects, its main rules and procedures and the status of the ICT-DF projects with various analyses and charts.

11.2	The document showcases the evolution of the ICT-DF Capital Account and provides information on the remaining funds as of end of 2021. Ongoing projects financed by the ICT-DF since May 2021 are presented in tabular form.

11.3	One delegate highlighted the importance of the ICT-DF in financing development projects and noted that the Partner2Connect initiative was timely as this could provide additional funding to the ICT-DF since TELECOM was no longer generating funds.

11.4	One delegate explained that the ICT-DF was an important source of funding projects for LDCs, LLDCs, and SIDS and required to be sustainable and suggested that the Fund be reformed.

11.5	Another delegate noted that the role of ITU in accordance with Resolution 157 is to undertake project execution and wanted to know what measures were taken to ensure that.

11.6	Project staff skills were developed and upgraded to ensure effective and efficient implementation of projects.

11.7	One delegate asked the secretariat to comment on the status of a resolution to define the use of in-kind contribution and also footnote 2 on page 2 of the English version of document C22/34 which states that the final information would be available upon closure of ITU financial accounts.

11.8	Another delegate expressed the wish to know how projects that were fully implemented were made sustainable after closure to ensure that they did not fail.

11.9	In response to the various questions raised, the secretariat provided the following comments:

· The Partner2Connect was a great opportunity for ITU to mobilize and raise funds for projects as TELECOM was no longer a viable source.
· The Development Sector has been successful in resource mobilization and forging partnerships to the extent that in 2021, an amount of nearly 20 million dollars was mobilized. However, for ITU to be successful in mobilizing funds, seed money such as provided by the ICT-DF went a long way in attracting more funding. As shown in document C22/34, ICT-DF provided only 25 per cent of funding to the new projects that were signed. The remaining 75 per cent came from external sources.
· With respect to training and skills development for project management, 97 staff were certified in project management. Also, a project management manual was developed for ease of reference. The trained staff were selected from all the three Sectors and the General Secretariat including people from Procurement, Finance and Internal Audit.
· Regarding the sustainability of projects after closure, it was noted that ITU undertakes post-implementation assessments and as other projects are implemented in the same beneficiary countries, ITU together with local stakeholders would continue to monitor the performance of such projects. Normally, the local stakeholders who are also part of the project governance take responsibility of the project after it is handed over and will ensure that the project is well looked after.
· With respect to changes to the resolution on in-kind contribution, work had not yet been completed.
· On the footnote referring to the closure of accounts, it was noted that the accounts had been closed. However, audit of accounts was still ongoing restricting the secretariat to officially give out the final figures.

	Recommendation
11.10	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of document C22/34.



[bookmark: _Hlk99099464]
12	Virtual and hybrid meetings (document C22/65) and Contribution by Australia and Canada - ITU framework for the conduct of hybrid meetings (document C22/69)

12.1	The meeting widely supported the proposal in documents C22/65 and C22/69.  Delegates highlighted the outcomes of WTSA on this issue as well as the TSAG ad-hoc group on e-meetings.

	Recommendation
12.2	The Committee recommends that the Council request the Secretary-General to prepare a background document on the current ITU practices regarding fully virtual, physical meetings with remote participation, and hybrid meetings taking into account the specificities of each Sector, the legal issues and the logistics constraints and present it to the Plenipotentiary Conference 2022.




	Contribution by China (People's Republic of) - Proposal to further improve the remote participation in ITU (document C22/73)

	Recommendation
12.3	The Committee recommends that the Council request the Secretary-General to take into account the points raised by the People’s Republic of China in document C22/73 in preparing the background document for the Plenipotentiary Conference 2022.



[bookmark: _Hlk99102426]
13	Feasibility study on establishing an ITU training institute: proposals from the Secretariat (document C22/56)

13.1	The secretariat introduced document C22/56, which contained proposals on the recommendations included in the final report of the “Feasibility study on establishing an ITU training institute”, which was presented to VCC in June 2021.

13.2	The proposals included:

i) working towards a harmonized capacity development framework in ITU, under the umbrella of the ITU Academy; in this context an internal task force has been set up, including representatives of the three Bureaux and the General Secretariat, with the objective to oversee the harmonization of capacity development in ITU and work towards consolidating ITU’s capacity development and training activities under the ITU Academy umbrella;
ii) carrying out a strategic review of the Centres of Excellence programme; the review recommends to substantially modify and rebrand the programme, to associate it more strongly with the ITU Academy and align it better with the objectives of ITU/BDT, and to seek out high-quality institutions as both Centres and potential partners;
iii) strengthening collaboration with UNDP in the field of digital capacity, following the recommendations of the UN Secretary-General’s Roadmap for Digital Cooperation. In 2021, a Joint Facility for Digital Capacity Development was launched by ITU and UNDP, which serves as the point of contact and exchange between the two agencies in order to improve the accessibility of digital opportunities.

13.3	Delegates thanked the secretariat for the presentation and approved the proposals contained in document C22/56 as a way forward to strengthen capacity development in ITU and to deliver high-quality services to the ITU membership. They highlighted the importance of bringing the work under the umbrella of the ITU Academy and to coordinate properly with the other bureaux in the spirit of one ITU.

13.4	Some delegates mentioned that ITU should look into the implementation of the short-term recommendations that were included in the Jigsaw report and that Council should have periodic reviews of the implementation of activities. The BDT representative confirmed that the work of the internal task force included addressing the recommendations.

13.5	One delegates highlighted that the secretariat, when implementing the proposals, should also review the quality of training content and delivery, as well as putting in place quality assurance processes.

13.6	Another delegate mentioned that cooperation in the field of capacity development should go beyond UNDP. The secretariat explained that this was already the case and that UNDP was highlighted because it was one of the recommendations of the Jigsaw report.



	Recommendation
13.7	The Committee recommends that the Council approve the proposals contained in document C22/56.

13.8	The Committee invites future Councils to review periodically the implementation of the short-term recommendations.




	Contribution by People's Republic of China - Proposal to enhance the capacity building in ITU (document C22/70)

13.9	The representative of the People’s Republic of China introduced document C22/70, which contained three proposals on the future work by ITU in the field of capacity development:

i) provide clear guidance to the stakeholders that are committed to actively contributing to the activities of ITU in capacity building through reviewing and summarizing various activities undertaken by ITU; 
ii) clearly define the functions and priorities of various training programmes so as to optimize the training resources and avoid overlapping and competition; and
iii) promote resource sharing among existing and potential training institutions through ITU playing its coordinating role.

13.10	Delegates thanked the People’s Republic of China for the contribution and supported the proposals. The secretariat stated that the proposals contained in the document complemented the proposals presented by the secretariat in document C22/56 and would be taken into consideration in the implementation of future ITU capacity development activities.

	Recommendation
13.11	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of document C22/70 and that the secretariat take into consideration the proposals contained therein in its ongoing efforts to harmonize ITU’s work on capacity development and training across the ITU.




14	Progress report on the implementation of the Human Resources strategic plan and of Resolution 48 (Rev. Dubai, 2018) (document C22/36)

14.1	The secretariat presented the Progress report on the implementation of the Human Resources strategic plan and of Resolution 48 for the period 2019-2021.
14.2	The Human Resources Strategic Plan (HRSP) is grounded in ITU’s strategic and financial plans. The strategy reaffirms that the greatest resource of ITU is a skilled, motivated, and dedicated workforce of the highest competence and integrity, geographically diverse and gender balanced, empowered to achieve ITU’s mission and strategic objectives though a commitment to managing the results. It also highlights the need for modernizing ITU’s human capacity, processes, procedures, and tools, as well as integration and harmonization with the United Nations Common System and the values of the international civil service. 
14.3	The secretariat emphasized that the ITU Human Resources Strategic Plan is a rolling strategy, which may be adapted as required, should new challenges or opportunities arise.
14.4	A number of process improvements were noted including new and updated polices put in place, several responding to audit recommendations. The report includes updates for up to February 2022 through the four pillars of the plan:  	(1) Fit-for-purpose workforce integrating diversity and agility (aligning ITU workforce to the ITU goals), (2) Engaged employees,
(3) Excellence-driven HR services, (4) Enabling work environment; the activities were implemented, producing the outputs described in column F (up to February 2022).
14.5	In addition to this, the secretariat presented an updated statistical report and further mentioned that during the last year, the Human Resources Management Department has invested in the creation of a modern HR data warehouse which will allow the creation of a live dashboard to be made available during 2022.

	Recommendation
14.6	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of the report on the implementation of the Human Resources Strategic Plan as presented in document C22/36.




15	Membership of the ITU Staff Pension Committee (oral presentation)

15.1	The Committee was informed that pursuant to the provisions of the Regulations and Rules of the United Staff Joint Pension Fund, the ITU Pension Committee is equally composed of representatives of Council Member States, of the ITU Management and of affiliated and beneficiaries of the Fund. The composition of the Council representations is established in Council Resolution 1394 adopted by the extraordinary session of the Council held after the Plenipotentiary Conference 2018.
15.2	Membership of the ITU SPC is in line with the provision of Article 6 from the UNJSPF Regulations and Rules, and it includes include members and alternate members. Due to the tripartite nature of the Funds management, the ITU SPC is composed of:
· 3 members and 3 alternates - representing the ITU Council, 
· 3 members and 3 alternates - representing the ITU Secretary General, 
· 3 members and 3 alternates - representing the ITU staff participants,
· 2 observers representing the ITU Pensioners;
· 1 Secretary to the Committee.
15.3	The ITU Council representatives are designated by Council during the Council session following the plenipotentiary conference, this happened in November 2018 where the following countries were designated:
· As members: Burkina Faso, Czech Republic, United States of America. 
· As alternates: Canada, Republic of India and Italy. 
15.4	All members having been in a position to fulfil their mandate so far, the Committee took note that no action was required in this regard at this stage.
15.5	Members will remain until the first Council session following the Plenipotentiary Conference of 2022. The process of designation of new representatives will take place at the aforesaid Council session.

	Recommendation
15.6	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of the oral report.



16	Decisions of the UNGA on the conditions of service under the United Nations common system (document C22/23)
16.1	The Committee was presented with the modifications introduced by the decisions taken by the United Nations General Assembly (UNGA) at its 76th session (2021) relating to conditions of service in the UN common system.
16.2	Due to these decisions, there are:
1. Changes to the provisions of the Staff Regulations for appointed officials, including those implemented by the Secretary-General in conformity with Council Resolution 647 (amended). These include:
1. Review of the base floor/salary scale (on a no loss/no gain basis) and pensionable remuneration for staff in professional and higher categories;
1. An update to the net salaries of staff in the General Service category The Geneva CPI movement from September 2020 to September 2021 reflected a net variation of salary scales which after having taken into account the local taxation factor amounts to 0.2 per cent.

16.3	A reviewed salary scale and the pensionable remuneration applicable to Elected Officials as pursuant to PP Resolution 46 (Kyoto, 1994), the remuneration received by Elected Officials is fixed in relation to the maximum salary paid to appointed staff based on percentages set out in that Resolution. Therefore, the remuneration of Elected Officials has to be revised as a consequence of the increase in the level of remuneration of appointed staff approved by the UNGA at its last session. This includes an adjustment to the pensionable remuneration.

	Recommendation
16.4	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of the modifications to the conditions of services for staff in the Professional and Higher categories, as well as for staff in the General Services category.
16.5	In accordance with Resolution 46 (Kyoto, 1994), the Committee recommends that the Council approve the salary scale and the pensionable remuneration applicable to Elected Officials, as it appears in the draft resolution contained in Annex A to this report.






17	Changes to Staff Regulations (reduction of the advertisement period) (document C22/52)

17.1	The secretariat presented a proposal to reduce the period of advertisement for professional positions (P1 to D2) identified for external recruitment on an international competitive basis, as established in the Staff Regulations, from two months to one month. A shorter period of advertisement would allow ITU to be more efficient in acquiring and deploying talent to deliver on its mission.
17.2	The experience gained over the last years of use of an electronic e-recruitment system shows that most of the applications received for vacancy notices are submitted by applicants during the first and last weeks of the period, therefore a reduction in advertising time will not have a detrimental effect in attracting talent. The proposal is to amend the Staff Regulations to reduce this period to 1 month, while keeping the possibility of applying a longer period of advertisement if the job in questions necessitates wider outreach. 
17.3	This proposal was discussed at the Council Working Group on Financial and Human Resources which requested the secretariat to provide additional statistics, specifically: (i) benchmarking with other organizations, (ii) a detailed analysis of the number of applicants received by day withing the two-month vacancy period, and (iii) an analysis of the average time it takes to recruit a staff member from the moment the position is advertised until a candidate is selected.
17.4	The secretariat provided this information and brought this proposal back to Council for consideration.
17.5	While several delegates expressed their support to the proposal, including the possibility of undertaking a pilot, several expressed their disagreement. The main concerns with the proposal were that a period of one month would be insufficient for applicants from developing countries. The secretariat was requested to find other ways to reduce the timelines of the recruitment process.

	Recommendation
17.6	Considering that there was no consensus with the proposal presented by the secretariat in document C22/52, the Committee recommends that the secretariat carries out further consultations and review the proposal to include the overall recruitment process and report back to a future session of Council.




18	Changes to Staff Regulations (personal status for the purpose of ITU entitlements) (document C22/47)

18.1	The secretariat presented the proposal to amend the Staff Regulations to allow the recognition of domestic partnerships. At the United Nations, the recognition of domestic partnerships is governed by the Secretary-General’s Bulletin ST/SGB/2004/13/Rev.1 of 26 June 2014. It states that the personal status of staff members for the purpose of entitlements under the Staff Rules and Staff Regulations of the United Nations will be determined by reference to the law of the competent authority under which the personal status has been established. 
18.2	The UN Secretariat, its Funds, Programmes and Commissions recognize domestic partnerships, as they fall under the purview of Staff Rules and Staff Regulations of the United Nations. All the UN specialized agencies have followed suit. ITU is the last remaining agency in the UN system that has not as yet followed the same protocol as identified in the UN Secretary-General’s Bulletin.
18.3	The proposal was discussed at the Virtual Consultation of Councillors (VCC/C21, in June 2021) and at the Council Working Group on Finance and Human Resources (September 2021 and January 2022). 
18.4	The secretariat provided additional information as requested at the VCC and CWG-FHR meetings:
1. A review of the situation with other organizations in the UN system, with special emphasis on the practice of the International Labour Organization.
1. A full translation of the Staff Regulations and Staff Rules into all official languages. It is important to note that, according to Article 29 of ITU’s Constitution, which states that: “In case of discrepancy or dispute, the French text shall prevail”, the base language for review has been the French version of the rules. 
1. An analysis of the estimated financial impact of implementing this change to the Staff Regulations and Rules.
1. An analysis of the potential costs of not implementing this change.
18.5	While several delegates expressed support for the proposal, several delegates expressed their disagreement with the proposal stating that there were still open questions on the subject. 
18.6	One delegate asked if there would be any legal risks of not implementing this change. The secretariat responded that this would require additional analysis but that legal risks could not be discarded.
18.7	Several delegates expressed the need for a specific definition of “domestic partnerships”. The secretariat responded that there is no specific definition of the term as this is something that is defined (or not) at the national level based on national laws. It further explained that this is the reason why the Secretary-General’s Bulletin ST/SGB/2004/13/Rev.1 of 26 June 2014 states that the personal status of staff members for the purpose of entitlements under the Staff Rules and Staff Regulations of the United Nations will be determined by reference to the law of the competent authority under which the personal status has been established.
18.8	One delegation stated that such wording, when determining the personal status of staff, is not generally acceptable for the UN system.

18.9	There was no consensus.

	Recommendation
18.10	Considering that there was no consensus with the proposal presented by the secretariat in document C22/47, the Committee recommends that the secretariat carry out further consultations with members and report back to a future session of Council.






19	Changes to Staff Regulations (advancement within grade for professional and higher categories) (document C22/49)

19.1	The secretariat presented a proposal for a modification to the Staff regulations to correct a discrepancy with the standards promulgated by the ICSC. 

19.2	The periodicity of salary increments for the Senior Counsellor and Professional category of staff is currently established in Staff Regulation 3.4 applicable to appointed staff. Due to an error in the Staff Regulations, the periodicity for the D1 level in ITU is not aligned with the United Nations Common System of Salaries, Allowances and Benefits, as established by the International Civil Service Commission (ICSC).

19.3	The ITU Staff Rules and Regulations state that for D1 staff, the annual increases are provided between step 1 and step 5 of the grade, while the ICSC rules state that annual increases are provided between step 1 and step 4 of the grade.

19.4	The secretariat mentioned the importance of correcting this discrepancy to ensure that ITU is aligned to the ICSC as the rest of the UN system.

19.5	The secretariat confirmed that the standards of ICSC, imply the decisions and recommendations of the ICSC as well as the relevant resolutions of the UNGA on the UN common system apply to ITU.

19.6	To align the Staff Regulations with the ICSC and to simplify future amendments, it was furthermore proposed that this level of detail in the Staff Regulations be removed, making direct reference to the ICSC standard as detailed in the Annex to the proposal.

	Recommendation
19.7	The Committee recommends that the Council approve the draft decision contained in Annex B to this report.




20	Financial Operating Report for the financial year 2020 (document C22/42)

20.1	The secretariat presented the Financial Operating Report on the 2020 audited accounts in line with Article 30 of the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules of the UnionEdition 2018.

20.2	The Financial Operating Report for the 2020 financial year comprise:
· the audited accounts for the 2020 financial year of the budget of the Union;
· the audited accounts for 2020 for technical cooperation projects, voluntary contributions and the ITU Staff Superannuation and Benevolent Funds;.
· the audited ITU TELECOM World 2020 event.

20.3	The Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) since 2010 and consist of the following:
· ITU Staff Superannuation and Benevolent Funds for 2020;
· United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund for 2020;
· technical cooperation projects funded by the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) for 2020;
· trust funds for 2020;
· voluntary contributions for 2020;
· ICT Development Fund for 2020;
· ITU Digital World 2020 event;
· new building project.

20.4	The COVID-19 global pandemic did not make possible the holding of physical events and therefore, ITU had to organize virtual events:
· WSIS Forum: 7 to 10 September 2020;
· AI for Good Global Summit: 2020;
· ITU Digital World 2020: October-December 2020;
· coordinated process improvements and cost saving efforts were continued by the Union in line with Decision 5, Annex 2 (Rev. Dubai, 2018);
· participation in the United Nations Jointly Financed Activities with initiatives resulting in cost reductions for participating entities, i.e., lower costs for electricity, office supplies, fuel, and postal services, and negotiated prices with airline companies;
· joined the United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society (UNSMIS) as from 1 January 2020 based on a recommendation of the Committee of the Medical Insurance Plan which consists of United Nations specialized agency based in Geneva and provides health insurance coverage to staff of UNOG, UNHCR and WMO.
20.5	A comparison of the financial status of ITU accounts in Swiss francs (CHF) between 2020 and 2019 was provided in a table showing the revenue, expenses, surplus/deficit, assets, liabilities and net assets.

20.6	In line with Decision 5 (Rev. Dubai, 2018), CHF 1 million was withdrawn from the Reserve Account and transferred to the ASHI Fund.  CHF 1.86 million was considered as deferred activities and will be withdrawn from the Reserve Account to be used in 2021 and 2022 following the postponement of the WTSA and of RPM for WTDC.  As of 31 December 2020, the Reserve Account has a balance of CHF 25.8 million, corresponding to 15.6 per cent of the budget for 2020 (CHF 24.9 million for 2019).

20.7	The most significant liabilities relate to the future employee benefits accrued by staff members and retirees representing 72 per cent of the ITU’s total liabilities as of 31 December 2020.  The ASHI liability represented 96 per cent of the total employee benefits’ liability which remains stable despite an increase of the ASHI liability due to the decrease of the discount rate from 0.6 per cent to 0.2 per cent.

20.8	Depreciation, unrealized exchange-rate losses and gains, and an adjustment of the provision for After-Service Health Insurance (ASHI) are not budgeted and are for statistical purposes only given that they do not represent cash-outflows during the year.  An overview of these positions is provided in Table V of this document - Comparison of budgeted amounts and actual amounts for the 2020 financial period.

20.9	ICT Development Fund balance as of 31 December 2020 amounts to CHF 3.8 million (CHF 4.6 million as of 31 December 2019).

20.10	Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, a virtual ITU Digital World 2020 was held instead of a physical event.  The event did not generate a significant amount of revenue while the salaries of the ITU Telecom Secretariat staff had to continuously be paid.  Consequently, the ITU Digital World 2020 resulted in a deficit of CHF 1.9 million which was transferred to the Exhibition Working Capital Fund, the balance of which as of 31 December 2020 amounts to CHF 6.5 million (CHF 8.21 million as of 31 December 2019).

20.11	Resolution 11 (Rev. Dubai, 2018) allocated CHF 750,000 for the services of a consulting firm to perform a comprehensive strategic and financial assessment of ITU Telecom events and submit a report to Council.  The remaining balance amounts to CHF 125,434 as of 31 December 2020 after the payment for the consultancy services.

20.12	Financial key indicators were presented in graphs including financial stability and safety/risk, reserve of equity and cash, and short-term solvency.  Financial performance was shown with staff cost ratio with total expenses and total revenue.

20.13	Following an assessment of the implications of any potential reduction in contributions due to the global economic and financial crises and taking into consideration the projected activities and the associated risks, it appears that the Union has adequate resources to maintain its operations in the medium term.  ITU’s financial statements will be continued to be presented based on the going concern principle.  The Statement of Internal Control for 2020 has been included in this financial operating report.

20.14	In accordance with Article 30 of the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules of the Union, the following financial statements in application of principles of IPSAS, the following statements have been certified as presenting an accurate view of the Union’s financial status as of 31 December 2020:
I.	Statement of financial position - Balance sheet as of 31 December 2020
II.	Statement of financial performance for the period which closed on 31 December 2020
III. 	Statement of changes in net assets for the period which closed on 31 December 2020
IV. 	Statement of cash flows for the period which closed on 31 December 2020
V. 	Statement of comparison of budgeted amounts and actual amounts for 2020

20.15 	A report by the senior management of ITU and a statement on internal control are included in the document. 

20.16	In response to the queries from delegates, the secretariat provided the following clarifications:
· ASHI.  The increase of CHF 20 million in the amount of obligations under ASHI plan for 2020 compared with 2019 is due to the decrease in the discount rate from 0.6 per cent to 0.2 per cent and the negative interest in banks which has a significant adverse effect on ASHI.  ITU is collaborating with the UN group to harmonize the hypothesis at the end of each year to be used by the UN organizations on actuarial study.  ITU is an old organization and have a higher number of retirees than serving staff.  Retirees contribute only 1/3 of the cost of health insurance with ITU paying the 2/3, while serving staff contribute 50 per cent of the cost.  Moreover, most retirees reside in Geneva and surrounding areas where the cost of medical coverage is significantly high.  Most ITU staff render for more than 10 years which make them qualified for ASHI unlike other UN organizations where many staff serve for not more than 5 years.  The use of ASHI Fund will only be made in the event that ITU closes.
· The revenue appearing as negative is for statistical purposes only which is due to the variation in amounts between 1 January and 31 December.  Nevertheless, actual revenue is always positive. 
· The 2020 financial result is good despite COVID-19 pandemic.  As in Resolution 1396, the 2019 savings of CHF 3.6 million was not totally used to balance budget.
· The deficit of -CHF 1.9 million pertaining to ITU Digital World 2020 was due to the fact that that there has been no physical event in 2020 (and also in 2021) as a consequence of COVID-19 and therefore, no significant revenue had been generated while the salaries of ITU Telecom staff have to be paid.  Consequently, the cost recovery of CHF 1.5 million was not charged to ITU Telecom.
· The secretariat continues its efforts in the settlement of arrears and special arrears and the renegotiation of payment terms in line with Resolution 41 (Rev. Dubai, 2018).  The status of arrears as of 31 December 2020 can be found in Annex C of the document.
· The secretariat presents to the CWG-FHR every year an update on the follow-up of External Auditor’s recommendation which can also be found in the External Auditor’s report in document C22/40.  To-date, 80 per cent of the recommendations have either been implemented or closed.  This information will also be included in the dashboard for transparency.

	Recommendation
20.17	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of the Financial Operating Report for the Financial Year 2020 and approve the draft resolution in Annex C to this report.




21	Report by the External Auditor (document C22/40)

21.1	The report on the external audit of 2020 ITU accounts was presented by Mr. Giovanni Coppola, President, Audit Chamber for International and European Affairs, Corte dei Conti (Italy).  The audit was based in accordance with the International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAIs) and the ITU Financial Regulations and Financial Rules.

21.2	The Financial Statements of ITU were presented in line with IPSAS 1 and include the following elements:
· Statement of financial position – balance sheet as of 31 December 2020;
· Statement of financial performance for the period ending 31 December 2020;
· Statement of changes in Net Assets for the period ending 31 December 2020;
· Table of cash flows for the period ending 31 December 2020;
· Comparison of budget and actuals for 2020;
· Notes to the financial statements providing information on accounting policies and additional information necessary for a fair presentation.

21.3	The Report includes 11 Recommendations and the corresponding Comments by the Secretary-General to each Recommendation.  The status of previous years’ Recommendations and Suggestions are outlined in Annex 1 of the document.

21.4	An Audit Certificate was issued by the President of Corte dei conti indicating that except for the possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects and are in accordance with IPSAS and the ITU Financial Regulations and Rules.  ITU’s transactions that were audited are in compliance with the ITU Financial Regulations and Financial Rules and its legislative authority.

21.5	The Qualified Opinion was based on the findings by the External Auditor that the Statements of Financial Position and Performance as of 31 December 2020 presented amounts relating to international cooperation and technical assistance that indicate that the system of internal controls could not be considered as reliable for the purpose of the audit and that it could not be ascertained that the recorded amounts were free from material misstatements due to errors or fraud.  The Qualified Opinion is necessary to ensure that the full extent of fraud has been quantified and reflected in financial statements.

21.6	The External Auditor highlighted in its report that the negative net asset
(- CHF 500.6 million) shown in the financial statement is primarily due to the impact of CHF 656 million in actuarial liabilities which relate to long-term staff benefits recorded in the financial position.  The External Auditor noted that measures are being taken by Management who will continue to constantly monitor the effectiveness of these measures.  Council is alerted on the need to consider further action in a long-term perspective.  Nevertheless, the audit opinion is not altered with such remarks.

21.7	The Report also included the review of effectiveness in fraud investigation, detection and quantification including the urgent actions needed following the External Audit report of June 2019 on effective fraud management.  Recommendation no. 10 refers.

21.8	A number of delegates expressed their appreciation of the works of the External Auditor.  

21.9	Following queries from the delegates to the secretariat, the clarifications below have been provided:
· Investigation.  Council authorized the hiring of a forensic auditor to review the fraud case. As recommended by the External Auditor, the UN oversight office has been contacted but due to their heavy workload, ITU did not receive adequate assistance.  An ITU investigator was recruited recently whose report on the fraud case will be made available soon.  
· Internal Control.  The report of the working group on internal controls will be presented in document C22/20 by the Director of BDT.
· Low value procurement limit has been reduced from CHF 20,000 per year to CHF 5,000 per year.
· Internal Audit investigation process.  Allegations of misconduct are taken forward through an initial reporting to the Ethics office or any other function/official identified in the ITU regulatory framework to receive allegations / reports of misconduct.  The Ethics Office would conduct a preliminary review and submit a recommendation to the Secretary-General who would decide whether to instruct the Internal Audit Unit (IAU) to conduct an investigation.  In accordance with the current ITU regulatory framework, IAU, or any other entity for that matter, is not authorized to conduct investigations on its own initiative.  In 2018, following the instructions from the Secretary-General, IAU investigated into the misconduct of a staff member and submitted after 3.5 months a final report to the Secretary-General which was the basis for ITU for initiating timely disciplinary process.   In 2019, an external investigator conducted a further investigation at the request of the BDT Director and upon instruction by the Secretary-General to assess the managerial responsibilities of the hierarchical supervisors of the fraudulent staff member to find out why this fraudulent behavior had not been noticed by that hierarchy and by the internal controls in place.   

21.10	In response to requests for additional information, the External Auditor provided the following elements:
· Qualified opinion.  The External Auditor identified several weaknesses related to internal controls in international cooperation and technical assistance.  However, due to COVID-19 pandemic, the External Auditor had some difficulties and was unable to travel to regional offices to conduct onsite verification.  Nevertheless, meetings were held with the Director of BDT.  The External Auditor hopes that he can complete his work in ITU with a clean opinion.
· ASHI.  As explained by the secretariat, other United Nations agencies have the same concerns as ITU since ITU is based in Geneva with a significantly high cost of living.  The External Auditor is of the opinion that investment fund to protect ASHI liability can result in more risks and liabilities.  In another organization, the investment led to more losses than benefits. 
· Low level procurement.  The value has been agreed with ITU management to be reduced from CHF 20,000 per year to CHF 5,000 per year in order to exercise prudence.
· Forensic expert.  65 recommendations were made by the forensic expert.  However, the External Auditor is of the opinion that the services of the consultant as forensic expert did not provide an added value to what had already been recommended by both the External Auditor and the Internal Auditor.  The consultant has been advised by the External Auditor to conduct an onsite visit in order to have a good assessment.  However, the onsite visit did not take place despite the fact that the company is represented in several cities in the region.   The External Auditor expressed concern in the report and the high cost of services of the consultant.
· Internal quantification exercise.  The External Auditor is of the opinion that the works of the quantification gave a positive result compared to that of the external firm.
· Implementation of audit recommendations.  Many recommendations have been closed this year.  The External Auditor will continue to follow-up with the ITU management on the implementation of the open recommendations and hopes to close more recommendations as soon as possible.



	Recommendation
21.11	The Committee recommends that the Council endorse the External Auditor’s report on the accounts for 2020, approve the accounts as audited and as presented in document C22/40, and instruct the secretariat to implement the above-mentioned recommendations for action.




[bookmark: _Hlk99377581]22		Introduction of the new External Auditors, United Kingdom National Audit Office (oral presentation)

22.1	The new External Auditor, on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General of the United Kingdom, expressed thanks to the Member States for the appointment of the United Kingdom National Audit Office (UK NAO) for the four-year period 2022 to 2025. The new External Auditor confirmed that initial discussions had commenced with secretariat staff, and handover arrangements with the Corte dei Conti is currently being planned consistent with processes established by the UN Panel of External Auditors. The new External Auditor stated that they would not commence detailed planning work until late summer of 2022 and would collaborate with the secretariat to develop a timetable for audit deliverables to meet the expectations of Member States. The new External Auditor stated that reporting would include clear, practical and value-added recommendations, and would focus on the most significant issues, with lesser issues raised with management and fully visible to the IMAC. The External Auditor further stated that informal sessions would be available to Members should they find this useful. One delegate congratulated, on behalf of his country’s supreme audit institution, the UK NAO for its appointment as ITU External Auditor. 

22.2	The Chairman welcomed the new External Auditor and looks forward to a fruitful collaboration.


[bookmark: _Hlk99376975]23	11th Annual Report of the Independent Management Advisory Committee (IMAC) (document C22/22)

23.1	The Chairman of IMAC, Mr. Kamlesh Vikamsey, introduced the Eleventh Report of the IMAC to Council. This report contained IMAC’s comments and advice on the External Auditor’s Report on the 2020 Financial Statements and the Committee’s proposed amendments to its Terms of Reference (ToRs).

23.2	IMAC’s recommendation (Rec. 1/2022) recommended that the senior management should engage with the Auditors to satisfy them on the adequacy of operations of controls that have already been put in place, to enable the Auditors to perform satisfactory audit procedures which help them to opine that the financial statements are free from material errors or misstatement.

23.3	Several delegates took the floor to thank the Committee for their work and advice, and to support the amendments proposed in the report. Some other areas were also proposed to be considered when revising the IMAC ToRs.

23.4	A clarification was also requested on how the proposed amendments to the IMAC ToRs, which will need to be reflected in Resolution 162 (Rev. Busan, 2014), could be brought to the plenipotentiary conference. It was clarified that Council may invite Member States to prepare their contributions to the plenipotentiary conference on Resolution 162 (Rev. Busan, 2014), taking into consideration the proposed amendments.

	Recommendation
23.5	The Committee recommends that the Council approve the IMAC report and its recommendation in document C22/22 for action by the secretariat, and to also invite Member States to consider the amendments proposed by the Committee to its Terms of Reference (Annex to document C22/22), as proposed revisions to Resolution 162
(Rev. Busan, 2014), when preparing their contributions to the 2022 Plenipotentiary Conference.




[bookmark: _Hlk99377268]24	Report by the Working Group on Internal Controls (document C22/20)

24.1	The secretariat introduced document C22/20 on the Report of the Working Group on Internal Controls. A fraud perpetrated by a staff member in an ITU Regional Office was investigated in 2018 by ITU Internal Audit Unit (IAU). ITU set up a working group, chaired by BDT Director, to strengthen control mechanisms across ITU in May 2019. The presentation provided a progress update on the systems and measures established in 2021 and the first quarter of 2022 which further advanced improvements previously established in the course of 2019 and 2020.

24.2 	The work has been guided by the work of the External Auditor, IMAC and the internal investigator.

24.3	Further progress on measures implemented includes the following areas: 
· A new e-Recruitment system has gone live in the first quarter of 2022, which is complemented by new competitive procedures and guidelines for the recruitment of consultants;
· New controls on the management of external consultants are in place;
· Improved integration of key functions of ITU’s organizational administrative software applications through the IT4BDT project, including: 
· replacing the old Operational Planning System with the new Enterprise Portfolio and Project Management (EPPM) system which is fully integrated with SAP corporate systems;
· Migration of the recruitment system to SAP;
· Implementation of a more robust country expense tracking system;
· New ways to scale the use of these systems are being continuously assessed for opportunities to enhance controls and efficiency.
· In the area of ethics, Declarations of Interests and Compliance Statements have been completed for all eligible staff;
· Project Management was further enhanced through the Projects Board, project governance, establishment of a new “Community of Practice” and systematic routine project monitoring and quarterly assessments, including the use of interactive management dashboards;
· Project management controls have been further reinforced by enhancement of skills, including certification of over 90 ITU staff on project management;
· Expansion of the ITU Compliance Dashboard among management, which is now a recurring item on the Management Coordination Group (MCG) agenda;  
· New measures to manage and monitor voluntary contributions;
· The Accountability Framework, endorsed in Council (Document C22/57), will be a living document which will continuously identify and integrate improved accountability practices; and
· Continuation of the weighting exercise of mitigation measures.

24.4	The Working Group on Internal Controls will continue meeting in 2022 for further consolidation, monitoring and refinement of internal controls where necessary.

24.5	Several delegates expressed their appreciation for the document, especially the level of detail on the progress made. 

24.6	In response to questions on the steps to implement the remaining procedures, the secretariat summarized the remaining steps as: 1) further training on the new e-Recruitment systems; 2) completion of the campaign to rebuild the roster of experts; 3) further enhancement phases of the new systems launched under the IT4BDT project to cover additional project monitoring functions; and 4) implementation and continuous refinement of the new Accountability Framework. The additional CHF 160,000 cost reported for the IT4BDT project was allocated to enhance the integration of all corporate systems and was not part of UMAX, and the secretariat will complete the above remaining items with resources available. 

24.7	In response to questions on the criteria for selecting consultants, the secretariat outlined the new guidelines to govern the advertisement, screening, selection, recommendations and recruitment of consultants, a process which will be applied to all consultants that reapply to the new roster. Furthermore, the new contractual framework integrates all ethical requirements.

24.8	The secretariat indicated that the Internal Audit Unit will assess the progress of the new control measures, and the External Auditor will visit at least 1 Regional Office and 1 Area Office this year. Further detail on risk weighting and reflection of mitigation measures on the risk register can be provided in future updates to the report.

	Recommendation
24.9	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of the report contained in document C22/20.



[bookmark: _Hlk99377782]


25	JIU reports on United Nations system-wide issues for 2020-2021 and recommendations to executive heads and legislative bodies and Contribution by the Republic of Paraguay (documents C22/61 and C22/66)

25.1	The secretariat presented document C22/61 entitled “JIU Reports on United Nations system-wide issues for 2020-2021 and recommendations to executive heads and legislative bodies”, which covers the JIU report as listed in table 1 compromising of the two reports remaining from the 2020 Programme of Work (environmental sustainability and blockchain applications) and two reports available from the 2021 Programme of Work (cybersecurity and support to landlocked developing countries).  Five of the total 22 recommendations contained in these reports are addressed to the ITU legislative body (Council), the rest are addressed to the Executive Head (Secretary-General). These five recommendations addressed to Council aim, in general terms, to improve cyber resilience; mainstream the priorities of the programme of action for landlocked developing countries; embed environmental sustainability considerations into the management of the organization; when applicable, the use of blockchain applications to be integrated together with other digital technologies into the innovation strategies and policies; and encourage Member States to engage with the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law. All recommendations are considered pertinent, although not all as priority, and with no additional financial human resource implications.

25.2	Delegates thanked the secretariat, appreciated the document and requested further information regarding the work on blockchain in terms of standards being undertaken within the purview of the TSB and on the issue of cybersecurity in terms of ensuring further information within the administration and what is being done in cooperation and coordination with other agencies in the United Nations system. Delegates considered these issues relevant and timely, as UN organizations are going through the digital transformation, adopting new and emerging technologies, together with the spectrum of cyber threats getting wider. Compliance with best practices, with regard to new and emerging technologies and, in particular, cybersecurity, was important. One delegate noted that given the relevance of cybersecurity to the organization, ITU should be one of the first organizations to implement these recommendations. One delegate raised the question in terms of the implementation of the related cyber security recommendations by the JIU and noted the need for additional funding was embedded in the CHF 13 million for Business Continuity (BC) activities as listed in the Unfunded Mandatory Activities (UMACs).

25.3	The secretariat informed delegates on ITU-T work related to blockchain and distributed ledger technologies carried out for more than five years. There are currently about 20 in-force ITU-T Recommendations related to blockchain, covering aspects including: terminology, requirements, assessment criteria for blockchain platforms, security threats and requirements, security guidelines for decentralized identity management, networking and functional requirements for blockchain and blockchain as a service, and the use of blockchain technology in the context of the internet of things and smart cities and communities.  In addition, there is ongoing in 7 of the 11 ITU-T study groups (SGs 2, 3, 11, 13, 16, 17, 20) on 30 work items approaching completion in the new study period. Several organizations, including SMEs, have joined ITU-T study groups as Associates to participate in the work on blockchain standards. With regards to the blockchain within the ITU for internal use and within the U.N. system, delegates were informed that the Chief Executive Board, the High-level Committee on Management had in September of last year approved a pilot in which the U.N. Joint Pension Fund, World Food Programme and UNHCR are looking to using blockchain for identity management and easy and security exchange of personnel data. It should facilitate the exchange of staff, and relevant information from recruitment or retirement in an easy manner among the U.N. organizations.  With respect to cybersecurity within the U.N. system, delegates were informed that ITU spearheaded the cybersecurity group within the U.N.’s Chief Executive Board coordination mechanism back in 2010, having chaired the group for approximately five years, and which also includes representatives from the E.U. institutions and OECD, among other groups dedicated to safety and security. Best practices for how to implement the protective measures within the U.N. system are shared, together with threat analysis and recommendations for implementation.  The secretariat also clarified some aspect regarding past and future JIU reports raised by some delegates.
[bookmark: _Hlk99449471]
	Recommendation
25.4	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of the report in document C22/61 and its recommendations addressed to the executive head and accept the recommendations addressed to the ITU legislative body as presented in Table 2. 



25.5	The delegate from Paraguay introduced document C22/66 containing observations and proposals of Paraguay in relation to the recommendations made by the Joint Inspection Unit in the report "JIU/REP/2021/2 Review of United Nations system support for landlocked developing countries to implement the Vienna Programme of Action".
25.6	In the light of the information presented and the JIU recommendations, Paraguay made the following proposals to the secretariat to ensure closer and clearer follow-up on the recommendations of the JIU:
•	Request that the secretariat take the necessary steps to post the name and basic contact details of the focal point designated to support VPoA implementation on the dedicated LLDC website and inform LLDCs by circular letter of any changes in relation to the designated focal point and its roles and responsibilities.
•	Invite the secretariat and BDT to include clear results frameworks for support for LLDCs, including linkages among the outcomes to be achieved, the main outputs strategy and core activities, in the respective operational plans.
•	Request that the secretariat report annually to the Council on support for the VPoA, as well as to the bodies already indicated (OHRLLS, TDAG, WTDC and PP), and post the reports on the dedicated LLDC website.
25.7 The secretariat responded noting that BDT has already taken steps to implement the three Recommendations and has already taken steps to address the proposals presented by Paraguay. The dedicated website for LDCs LLDCs and SIDS has been updated with the posting of the JIU report, and presents a dedicated space for LLDCs as noted by Paraguay. Information regarding the ITU focal point is available on that website, and specifically this is the BDT Senior Liaison in the ITU New York Liaison Office, Ms. Ida Jallow.
25.8 BDT engages with the Office of the UN High Representative for LDCs LLDCs and SIDS (OHRLLS) on VPOA accelerated implementation and reporting and is in the process of submitting inputs. In addition, ITU reports on its activities with LLDCc through the Telecommunication Development Advisory Group in the reporting on the Buenos Aires Action Plan, to WTDC and plenipotentiary conference, including the implementation of relevant resolutions.
25.9 Finally, the secretariat noted regarding budgetary and human resources implications, that there are no additional budgetary or human resources required as this work is already mainstreamed into ongoing thematic priorities work in line with Results Based Management practices.
[bookmark: _Hlk99449705]
	Recommendation
25.10	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of the content of this contribution and endorse the proposals.



26.	Report of the Internal Auditor on internal audit activities (Document C22/44)
26.1	The Internal Auditor presented and submitted for discussion to the Council, document C22/44 covering the period from April 2021 to January 2022.  The report contains elements related to the orientation and scope of internal audit activities, as well as an overview of the assurance engagements that were conducted in the time period reported on. The Internal Auditor mentioned that the annual audit plan was reviewed by the Independent Management Advisory Committee at its 28th meeting and on 29 March 2021 approved by the Secretary-General, and communicated also to the External Auditor. The allotted time for investigations for 2021 was minimized as to allow Internal Audit to conduct the core of its mandate. The orientation of the audit work was mainly towards the areas of assurance engagements. The Internal Auditor mentioned that two assurance engagements were completed in 2021, an audit inspection of ITU Employee Entitlements covering the period from January 2012 to December 2019, and an audit of Programs, Projects and Supplementary Activities (PPSA) funded by Voluntary contributions and Funds in Trust covering the period from January 2016 to December 2020. Additionally, the Internal Auditor stated that the Internal Audit Unit was tasked with secretarial support for the forensic audit further to Council Decision 613 and that Internal Audit continued to follow up on the recommendations made in previous audit reports. 

26.2	The Chairman opened the floor for comments.

26.3	With respect to the audit of ITU Employee Entitlements, one delegate requested clarification on which recommendations issued to HRMD by the Internal Audit Unit had not received consensus. The Internal Auditor explained as an example, that given the lengthy period covered by the audit (2012-2019), a lot of detail was provided in terms of calculation methodology of the various entitlements, including entitlements / reimbursements made in error. The margin of error for this period was not a huge amount, and whilst a recommendation was made to HRMD to re-calculate the entitlements for the period, HRMD considered it would be a very onerous request and therefore did not agree with Internal Audit’s recommendation. 

26.4	With respect to the audit of voluntary contributions and Funds in Trust, various delegates requested clarification regarding the responsibility (within the secretariat or at Council level) of developing policy guidelines to distinguish between voluntary contributions and trust funds, oversight of private sector donors, a database on the donor types and amounts, a comprehensive risk register including risks from private sector donors and checks of new donors and contributions. Further, follow up as to implementation of Memorandums of Understanding with various parties and the ITU was requested for proper oversight. The Internal Auditor stated that the existing definitions in relation to the voluntary contributions and Funds in Trust prevalent in the ITU Financial Regulations and Financial Rules, had been found to be insufficient for staff and managers on providing clarity on how to treat voluntary contributions and Funds in Trust correctly. The Internal Auditor stated that a recommendation was issued at the level of the General Secretariat to develop a more detailed guidance based on the principles of the ITU Financial Regulations and Financial Rules, but more specific and tailored for treatment of various voluntary contributions. The Internal Auditor commented in relation to new donors not yet known to the ITU, a recommendation had been issued requiring due diligence be conducted to ensure that the new donor would not endanger ITU’s reputational or financial risk and that the secretariat developed a service order with finetuned procedures to conduct the necessary due diligence of new donors providing funds, incorporating these risks into the overall ITU risk register also. With respect to the amounts of funds, it was clarified that an overview was available in the Financial Operating Report (document C22/42) and that the secretariat would revert to delegates with respect to the database on the list of Memorandums of Understanding with various parties. 

26.5	Another delegate stressed the importance of developing guidelines, and requested clarification in relation to measures undertaken for ITU staff not being clear on their roles and responsibilities with respect to the external funds’ use and consultants expenses. The Internal Auditor commented that a number of those measures are part of the actions that the Working Group on Internal Controls is focusing on, as per the BDT Director’s explanations when discussing document C22/20. This Working Group has indeed developed mechanisms to ensure that consultants’ work is monitored and expected deliverables are checked. 

26.6	One delegate stated that the document presented by the Working Group on Internal Controls did not appear synchronized with the findings of the audit of Programs, Projects and Supplementary Activities, stating that many recommendations had been established already and requested clarification on the link between the two documents. The Internal Auditor clarified that the reasoning behind the lack of synchronicity was due to the audit findings stemming from activities outside of the BDT, whereas the document presented on the Working Group of Internal Controls focuses on BDT related control issues. Being aware that the BDT is the Bureau with the most projects, the Internal Auditor added that similar measures were to be taken up to ensure that ITU wide adequate project management guidelines are adopted and projects are being monitored in a uniform manner. 

26.7	Some delegates requested that similarly to the External Auditor’s recommendations status, for the Internal Audit recommendations implementation status information, more than statistics be provided. The Internal Auditor would liaise with the Secretary-General on this request. For next year’s Council, such information should be provided and an information document could be posted on an annual basis which would address the various internal audit recommendations that are still in progress.

26.8	One delegate requested further information on whether the Internal Audit Unit had quantified the amount of any employee entitlements taken inappropriately during the period of 2012 to 2019. The Internal Auditor explained that as mentioned previously, calculations had been completed during the audit, however in some cases these amounts were very minor. The Internal Audit Unit had regardless, issued recommendations to HRMD to conduct an exercise to correct the amounts of any erroneous entitlements, which the management found to be a too onerous an engagement. 

26.9	One delegate further referred to Internal Audit’s finding in relation to financial and asset management being partially effective and internal controls in relation to consultants being ineffective and whether the Internal Audit Unit could convert these findings into a positive one. 

26.10	Another delegate requested whether the secretariat and Internal Audit Unit would commence the practice of having annual audit opinions on governance and risk management in addition to internal controls. It was considered a best practice and would enable consideration at Council by involved Member States in this process. The Internal Auditor stated that in other UN agencies an overall statement is made by Internal Audit, or the appropriate internal oversight services, to provide a relative assurance based on the audit work completed. The Internal Auditor stated that this was not yet the case so far at ITU, and that assurance is issued based on specific themes rather than an overall assessment. 

26.11	One delegate requested to know if an exhaustive comprehensive document exists covering all of the risks that ITU is exposed to and whether it would be possible to devote a page on the ITU web site or in the ITU publications to cover these risks. The Internal Auditor clarified that an ITU wide risk register is maintained by SPM Corporate Strategy Division, and further referred delegates to last year’s document C21/61 in which the ITU risk register had been presented. The Internal Auditor further explained that at a more detailed level, risk management for specific audit engagements, is reviewed alongside governance aspects and internal controls, which are then reported on in the findings of the individual internal audit reports. 

26.12	The secretariat took the floor to state that the ITU wide risk register was compiled from last year, and includes all the various risks that the ITU may be exposed to, including the risks associated with the new building, and financial risks currently linked to negative rates applied not only in Switzerland but across all banking institutions managing funds in Swiss francs which poses a new risk against which diversification of funds in Swiss francs, converting to dollars or euros in order to allow for offsetting is being employed.  

26.13	Stemming from the discussion on document C22/20, the BDT Director also provided complementary information with respect to BDT project management guidelines issued in 2020, in addition to the already 80 certified project management staff, now being expanded throughout the ITU. The controls mechanism for adequate monitoring of the experts/consultants work deliverables that BDT had put in place in 2019 was also further rolled out throughout the ITU secretariat. Since 2021, a mechanism to report on BDT’s voluntary contributions had been put in place and expanding it in 2022 to all voluntary contributions was, in collaboration with FRMD, also already decided on.

26.14	The Chairman thanked the Internal Auditor and the secretariat for the clarifications and concluded that this document should be forwarded to the Council for consideration.
[bookmark: _Hlk99455345]
	Recommendation
26.15	The Committee considered the report and recommends that the Council take note of the report in document C22/44 and endorse the Committee’s above considerations.






27	Report from the Ethics Office (document C22/14)

27.1	The Ethics Officer presented document C22/14 and outlined the key areas of work for 2021.

27.2	Delegates noted their appreciation and continued support for the work of the Ethics Office.

27.3	Several delegates asked about the staff resources in the Ethics Office and noted that one staff works at 80 per cent and one staff works at 50 per cent.

27.4	A few delegates asked about the Declaration of Interests exercise, including its scope, and the status.

27.5	One delegate asked about the updated harassment policy and its status.

27.6	Another delegate asked about ethics training, fraud training, and the frequency of the ethics trainings.

27.7	A few delegates asked about disciplinary measures and, the complaints process, enhancing accountability and “trusted places”.

27.8	The Ethics Officer confirmed that the updated Declaration of Interests Policy and ITU Policy Addressing Harassment, including sexual harassment, Abuse of Authority, and Discrimination have been published and are available on the Ethics Office’s external webpage. The Ethics Office noted that the Declaration of Interests Policy applies to all staff and has recently been extended to SSA holders.  The Ethics Office confirmed that a mandatory ethics training, including fraud, is being developed along with the frequency of the trainings. The Ethics Office mentioned that the possibility of an annual public report of disciplinary measures for ITU is being discussed. The Ethics Office also indicated that the ethics-related service orders and framework describe the complaints process and the role of the Ethics Office.  The Ethics Office described its efforts to enhance accountability and trust.

27.9	Some delegates asked that it be noted that the staff resources in the Ethics Office be reviewed to ensure it is adequately staffed.

27.10	One delegate asked about the implementation of the new JIU report on the review of the ethics functions in the UN system.  The secretariat reaffirmed that the above-mentioned report be brought to the attention of the next meeting of the Council Working Group on Financial and Human Resources.

	Recommendation
27.11	The Committee recommends that the Council take note of the Ethics Office 2021 report and recommends that Council consider the issue of staff resources in the Ethics Office with a view that it be adequately staffed. 




ANNEX A

DRAFT RESOLUTION […]
Conditions of service of ITU Elected Officials
The ITU Council,
in view of
Resolution 46 (Kyoto, 1994) adopted by the Plenipotentiary Conference,
having considered
the report by the Secretary-General on the measures taken within the United Nations Common System as a result of the decisions of the United Nations General Assembly at its 76th session with regard to conditions of service (Resolution 76/240 of 24 December 2021),
resolves
to approve the following salaries with effect from 1 January 2022, and pensionable remuneration with effect from 1 February 2022 for ITU elected officials:
	
	USD per annum

	
	Gross
(1 January 2022)
	Net
(1 January 2022)
	Pensionable remuneration
(1 February 2022)

	Secretary-General
	251’017
	181’171
	409’225

	Deputy Secretary-General
and Directors of Bureaux
	228’482
	166’298
	379’541


________________






ANNEX B

DRAFT DECISION […]
Amendments to Staff Regulations
applicable to appointed Staff
Regulation 3.4 Advancement within a grade
The ITU Council,
in view of
No 63 of the Convention of the International Telecommunication Union, the Staff Regulations applicable to appointed staff, and the United Nations Common System of Salaries, Allowances and Benefits established by the International Civil Service Commission (ICSC),
having considered
the report submitted by the Secretary-General in document C22/36 to the Council,
decides
to approve the amendments to the Staff Regulations applicable to appointed staff contained in Annex to this Decision.
ANNEX TO DRAFT DECISION
STAFF REGULATIONS APPLICABLE TO APPOINTED STAFF
1. Salary increments within the levels set forth in the scales shown in Annexes 3 and 4 to these Regulations shall be awarded to staff members on the basis of satisfactory service.
2. The periodicity of salary increments of the Senior Counsellor and Professional category staff shall be annual from:
 step 1 to step 7 at grades P1 to P5;
 step 1 to step 5 at grade D1;
 steps 1 and 2 at grade D2, and biennial thereafter
determined by the Secretary-General in accordance with the standards promulgated by the International Civil Service Commission (ICSC). The Secretary-General will inform staff members annually in case there are changes in the periodicity of salary increments.
_________________



ANNEX C

DRAFT RESOLUTION
Financial operating report for the 2020 financial year
The ITU Council,
in view of
No. 101 of the Convention of the International Telecommunication Union and Article 30 of the Financial Regulations of the Union,
having examined
the financial operating report for the 2020 financial year, covering the audited accounts for the 2020 financial year of the budget of the Union, the situation of the ITU TELECOM 2020 accounts and the audited 2020 accounts for technical cooperation projects, voluntary contributions and the ITU Staff Superannuation and Benevolent Funds,
having noted
that the External Auditor's reports are set out in Document C22/40,
[bookmark: _Hlk39237827]resolves
to approve the financial operating report for the 2020 financial year (Document C22/42), covering the audited accounts of the Union, the situation of the ITU TELECOM 2020 accounts and the 2020 audited accounts for technical cooperation projects, voluntary contributions and the ITU Staff Superannuation and Benevolent Funds.
_______________
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